

# Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF | DUSA Davis Select International ETF | DINT Davis Select Worldwide ETF | DWLD Davis Select Financial ETF | DFNL

Portfolios of Davis Fundamental ETF Trust

Principal U.S. Listing Exchange: Cboe Global Markets, Inc.

March 1, 2025

# STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

This statement of additional information is not a prospectus and should be read in conjunction with the Funds' prospectus dated March 1, 2025. This statement of additional information incorporates the prospectus by reference. A copy of the Funds' prospectus may be obtained, without charge, by calling Investor Services at 1-800-279-0279 or by visiting our website at www.davisetfs.com/literature/regulatory-documents.

The Funds' most recent annual report and semi-annual report to shareholders, and other information such as Fund financial statements, are separate documents that are available, without charge, upon request.

The Securities and Exchange Commission has not approved or disapproved these securities or passed upon the adequacy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

# Contents

| SECTION I: INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, STRATEGIES, RISKS AND RESTRICTIONS                                 | 3  |
|--|----|
| General Information  | 3  |
| Continuous Offering  | 3  |
| Investment Objectives  | 4  |
| Non-Principal Investment Strategies and Risks  | 4  |
| Investment Restrictions  | 18 |
| Exchange Listing and Trading   | 21 |
| SECTION II: THE TRUST AND KEY PERSONS  | 22 |
| Organization of the Trust  | 22 |
| Trustees and Officers  | 22 |
| Trustees   | 22 |
| Independent Trustees' Compensation   | 23 |
| Officers   | 23 |
| Standing Committees of the Board of Trustees   | 24 |
| Risk Oversight   | 25 |
| Trustees' Fund Holdings  | 26 |
| Independent Trustees' Affiliations and Transactions  |    |
| Certain Shareholders of the Funds  |    |
| Investment Advisory Services   | 27 |
| Portfolio Managers   | 28 |
| Disclosure of Portfolio Holdings   | 30 |
| Book Entry Only System   |    |
| Other Important Service Providers  |    |
| SECTION III: PURCHASE AND REDEMPTION OF CREATION UNITS   | 33 |
| SECTION IV: GENERAL INFORMATION  | 38 |
| Determining the Price of Shares  |    |
| Dividends and Distributions  | 38 |
| Federal Income Taxes   | 39 |
| General Considerations   |    |
| Procedures and Shareholder Rights are Described by Current Prospectus and Other Disclosure Documents |    |
| APPENDIX A: QUALITY RATINGS OF DEBT SECURITIES   |    |
| APPENDIX B: SUMMARY OF THE ADVISER'S PROXY VOTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES                            | 46 |

# SECTION I: INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, STRATEGIES, RISKS AND RESTRICTIONS

This statement of additional information (the "SAI") supplements and should be read in conjunction with the prospectus of Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF, Davis Select International ETF, Davis Select Worldwide ETF, and Davis Select Financial ETF (each a "Fund" and jointly the "Funds").

*The Adviser and Sub-Adviser.* The Funds are managed by Davis Selected Advisers, L.P. (the "Adviser") and Davis Selected Advisers – NY, Inc. (the "Sub-Adviser").

# **General Information**

Each Fund is a series of Davis Fundamental ETF Trust (the "Trust"), an open-end management investment company organized as a Delaware business trust on March 18, 2016. Each series of the Trust represents shares of beneficial interest in a separate portfolio of securities and other assets, with its own objective and policies. Davis Select International ETF and Davis Select Worldwide ETF are each a diversified fund within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"). The Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF and Davis Select Financial ETF are classified as non-diversified funds under the 1940 Act.

Each Fund issues and redeems shares at its net asset value per share ("NAV") only in large block aggregations of a specified number of shares ("Creation Units"). Currently, Creation Units generally consist of 25,000 shares, though this may change from time to time. Creation Units are not expected to consist of less than 25,000 shares (from 3/10/25; this figure is 50,000 shares through 3/9/25). As a practical matter, only institutions or large investors purchase or redeem Creation Units. Shares of the Funds are not redeemable securities, except when aggregated in Creation Units.

The Funds generally issue and redeem shares either in exchange for (1) a basket of securities included in its portfolio ("Deposit Securities") together with the deposit of a specified cash payment ("Cash Component"); or (2) a cash payment equal in value to the Deposit Securities ("Deposit Cash") together with the Cash Component. In accordance with Rule 6c-11 of the 1940 Act, each Fund may utilize baskets that are not representative of its entire portfolio. This would be considered a "custom basket" and additional information regarding baskets is included in the section titled "Purchase and Redemption of Creation Units." The primary consideration accepted by each Fund (i.e., Deposit Securities or Deposit Cash) is set forth under "Purchase and Redemption of Creation Units" later in this SAI. The Trust reserves the right to permit or require the substitution of a "cash in lieu" amount to be added to the Cash Component to replace any Deposit Security and reserves the right to permit or require the substitution of Deposit Securities in lieu of Deposit Cash (subject to applicable legal requirements). The shares have been approved for listing and secondary trading on a national securities exchange (the "Exchange"). The shares will trade on the Exchange at market prices. These prices may differ from the shares' NAV.

Shares may be issued in advance of receipt of Deposit Securities subject to various conditions, including a requirement to maintain on deposit with the Trust cash at least equal to a specified percentage of the value of the missing Deposit Securities, as set forth in the Participant Agreement (as defined herein). The Trust may impose a transaction fee for each creation or redemption. In all cases, such fees will be limited in accordance with the requirements of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") applicable to management investment companies offering redeemable securities. In addition to the fixed creation or redemption transaction fee, an additional transaction fee of up to three times the fixed creation or redemption transaction fee may apply.

Each Fund intends to qualify each year for treatment as a regulated investment company (a "RIC") under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), so that it will not be subject to federal income tax on income and gains that are timely distributed to Fund shareholders. Each Fund will invest its assets, and otherwise conduct its operations, in a manner that is intended to satisfy the qualifying income, diversification and distribution requirements necessary to establish and maintain eligibility for such treatment.

Certain matters under the 1940 Act, which must be submitted to a vote of the holders of the outstanding voting securities of a series, shall not be deemed to have been effectively acted upon unless approved by the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting shares, as defined under the 1940 Act, of each series affected by such matter.

# **Continuous Offering**

The method by which Creation Units of shares are created and traded may raise certain issues under applicable securities laws. Because new Creation Units of shares are issued and sold by the Trust on an ongoing basis, at any point a "distribution," as such term is used in the Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act"), may occur. Broker-dealers and other persons are cautioned that some activities on their part may, depending on the circumstances, result in their being deemed participants in a distribution in a manner which could render them statutory underwriters and subject them to the prospectus delivery and liability provisions of the Securities Act. For example, a broker-dealer firm or its client may be deemed a statutory underwriter if it takes Creation Units after placing an order with Foreside Fund Services, LLC (the "Distributor"), breaks them down into constituent shares, and sells such shares directly to customers, or if it chooses to couple the creation of a supply of new shares with an active selling effort involving solicitation of secondary market demand for shares. A determination of whether one is an underwriter for purposes of the Securities Act must take into account all the facts and circumstances pertaining to the activities of the broker-dealer or its client in the particular case, and the examples mentioned above should not be considered a complete description of all the activities that could lead to a categorization as an underwriter.

Broker-dealer firms should also note that dealers who are not "underwriters," but are effecting transactions in shares, whether or not participating in the distribution of shares, are generally required to deliver a prospectus. This is because the prospectus delivery exemption in Section 4(3) of the Securities Act is not available in respect of such transactions as a result of Section 24(d) of the 1940 Act. Firms that incur a prospectus-delivery obligation, with respect to shares of a Fund, are reminded that under Securities Act Rule 153, a prospectus-delivery obligation under Section 5(b)(2) of the Securities Act owed to an exchange member in connection with a sale on the Exchange is satisfied by the fact that the Funds' prospectus is available at the Exchange upon request. The prospectus-delivery mechanism provided in Rule 153 is only available with respect to transactions on an exchange.

#### **Investment Objectives**

The investment objective, principal investment strategies, and the main risks of investing in each Fund are described in its prospectus. There is no assurance that a Fund will achieve its investment objective. An investment in a Fund may not be appropriate for all investors and short-term investing is discouraged. The Funds' investment objectives are not fundamental policies and may be changed by the Board of Trustees without a vote of shareholders. The Funds' prospectus would be amended prior to any change in investment objective and shareholders would be provided at least 30 days' notice before the change in investment objective was implemented.

# Non-Principal Investment Strategies and Risks

Each Fund may implement investment strategies which are not principal investment strategies if, in the its professional judgment, the strategies are appropriate. A strategy includes any policy, practice, or technique used by the Funds to achieve their investment objectives. Whether a particular strategy, including a strategy to invest in a particular type of security, is a principal investment strategy depends on the strategy's anticipated importance in achieving the Fund's investment objectives and how the strategy affects the Fund's potential risks and returns. In determining what is a principal investment strategy, the Adviser considers, among other things, the amount of the Fund's assets expected to be committed to the strategy, the amount of the Fund's assets expected to be placed at risk by the strategy, and the likelihood of the Funds losing some or all of those assets from implementing the strategy. Non-principal investment strategies are generally those investments which constitute less than 5% to 10% of a Fund's assets depending upon their potential impact upon the investment performance of the Fund.

While the Adviser expects to pursue the Funds' investment objectives by implementing the principal investment strategies described in the Funds' prospectus, a Fund may employ non-principal investment strategies or securities if, in Davis Advisors' professional judgment, the securities, trading, or investment strategies are appropriate. Factors that Davis Advisors considers in pursuing these other strategies include whether the strategy: (1) is likely to be consistent with shareholders' reasonable expectations; (2) is likely to assist the Adviser in pursuing the Fund's investment objective; (3) is consistent with the Fund's investment objective; (4) will not cause the Fund to violate any of its fundamental or non-fundamental investment restrictions; and (5) will not materially change the Fund's prospectus and further explained in this SAI, as amended from time to time.

The composition of the Fund's portfolio and the strategies that the Adviser may use to try to achieve the Fund's investment objectives may vary depending on market conditions and available investment opportunities. The Fund is not required to use any of the investment strategies described below in pursuing its investment objective. The Fund may use some of the investment strategies rarely or not at all. Whether the Fund uses a given investment strategy at a given time depends on the professional judgment of the Adviser.

The principal investment strategies and risks for each Fund are described in the Funds' prospectus. An investment strategy that is a principal investment strategy for one Fund may be a non-principal investment strategy for one of the other Funds, which, therefore, may only invest a limited portion of its assets in the non-principal investment strategy, as described above. A number of investment strategies and risks, which are not principal investment strategies or principal risks for any of the Funds (and, therefore, are not included in the Funds' prospectus), are described below.

#### **Equity Strategies and Risks**

*Emphasizing Investments in Selected Market Sectors (DINT, DWLD and DUSA Only).* A Fund may invest up to 25% of its net assets in the securities of issuers conducting their principal business activities in the same market sector. Significant investments in selected market sectors render a portfolio particularly vulnerable to the risks of its target sectors. Such exposure may cause the Fund to be more impacted by risks relating to and developments affecting that market sector. For purposes of measuring concentration in a market sector, the Fund generally classifies companies at the "industry group" or "industry" level.

However, further analysis may lead the Adviser to classify companies at the sub-industry level. See the section of this SAI on Investment Restrictions for further details.

**Consumer Discretionary Sector Risk.** Companies engaged in the design, production, or distribution of products or services for the consumer discretionary sector (e.g., retailing and consumer services) are subject to the risk that their products or services may become obsolete quickly. The success of these companies can depend heavily on disposable household income and consumer spending. During periods of an expanding economy, the consumer discretionary sector may outperform the consumer staples sector, but may underperform when economic conditions worsen. Moreover, the consumer discretionary sector can be significantly affected by several factors, including, without limitation, the performance of domestic and international economies, exchange rates, changing consumer preferences, demographics, marketing campaigns, cyclical revenue generation, consumer confidence, commodity price volatility, labor relations, interest rates, import and export controls, intense competition, technological developments, and government regulation.

Internet & Direct Marketing Retail Risk. Companies that operate via the internet or direct marketing (e.g., online consumer services, online retail, travel) segments are subject to fluctuating consumer demand. Unlike traditional brick and mortar retailers, online marketplaces and retailers must assume shipping costs or pass such costs to consumers. Consumer access to price information for the same or similar products may cause companies that operate in the online marketplace, retail, and travel segments to reduce profit margins in order to compete. Due to the nature of their business models, companies that operate in the online marketplace, retail, and travel segments to reduce profit margins in order to compete. Due to the nature of their business models, companies that operate in the online marketplace, retail, and travel segments may also be subject to heightened cybersecurity risk, including the risk of theft or damage to vital hardware, software, and information systems. The loss or public dissemination of sensitive customer information or other proprietary data may negatively affect the financial performance of such companies to a greater extent than traditional brick and mortar retailers. As a result of such companies being web-based and the fact that they process, store, and transmit large amounts of data, including breaches of vendors' technology and systems, could expose companies that operate via the internet or direct marketing retail to a risk of loss or misuse of such information, adversely affect their operating results, result in litigation or potential liability, and otherwise harm their businesses.

*China Risk – Generally.* Investment in Chinese securities may subject the Fund to risks that are specific to China. China may be subject to significant amounts of instability, including, but not limited to, economic, political, and social instability. China's economy may differ from the U.S. economy in certain respects, including, but not limited to, general development, level of government involvement, wealth distribution, and structure. The government of China has historically demonstrated its control over almost every sector of the Chinese economy through state ownership and/or administrative regulation. As an example, the Chinese government has taken certain actions that influence prices of goods and encouraged companies to invest in and has induced mergers in certain industries, and may take such actions or similar actions now or in the future. In addition, the Chinese government has taken actions which could materially impact the business operations of certain industries, which could impact underlying holdings. U.S. and Chinese regulators have, and may in the future, impact the ability of Chinese companies to gain access to U.S. capital markets.

As of January 31, 2025, Davis Select International ETF and Davis Select Worldwide ETF had significant exposure to shell companies with contractual arrangements with variable interest entities, as defined below. For purposes of raising capital offshore on exchanges outside of China, including on U.S. exchanges, many Chinese-based operating companies are structured as Variable Interest Entities ("VIEs"). In this structure, the Chinese-based operating company establishes the VIE and establishes a shell company in a foreign jurisdiction, such as the Cayman Islands. The shell company lists on a foreign exchange and enters into contractual arrangements with the VIE. This structure allows Chinese companies in which the government restricts foreign ownership to raise capital from foreign investors. While the shell company has no equity ownership of the VIE, these contractual arrangements permit the shell company to consolidate the VIE's financial statements with its own for accounting purposes and provide for economic exposure to the performance of the underlying Chinese operating company. Therefore, an investor in the listed shell company, such as the Fund, will have exposure to the Chinese-based operating company only through contractual arrangements and has no ownership in the Chinese-based operating company. Furthermore, because the shell company only has specific rights provided for in these service agreements with the VIE, its abilities to control the activities at the Chinese-based operating company are limited and the operating company may engage in activities that negatively impact investment value.

While the VIE structure has been widely adopted, it is not formally recognized under Chinese law and therefore there is a risk that the Chinese government could prohibit the existence of such structures or negatively impact the VIE's contractual arrangements with the listed shell company by making them invalid. If these contracts were found to be unenforceable under Chinese law, investors in the listed shell company, such as the Fund, may suffer significant losses with little or no recourse available. If the Chinese government determines that the agreements establishing the VIE structures do not comply with Chinese law and regulations, including those related to restrictions on foreign ownership, it could subject a Chinese-based issuer to penalties, revocation of business and operating licenses, or forfeiture of ownership interest. In addition, the listed shell company's control over a VIE may also be jeopardized if a natural person who holds the equity interest in the VIE breaches the terms of the agreement, is subject to legal proceedings or if any physical instruments for authenticating documentation, such as chops and seals, are used without the Chinese-based issuer's authorization to enter into contractual arrangements in China.

Chops and seals, which are carved stamps used to sign documents, represent a legally binding commitment by the company. Moreover, any future regulatory action may prohibit the ability of the shell company to receive the economic benefits of the Chinese-based operating company, which may cause the value of the Fund's investment in the listed shell company to suffer a significant loss. For example, in 2021, the Chinese government prohibited use of the VIE structure for investment in after-school tutoring companies. There is no guarantee that the government will not place similar restrictions on other industries.

Chinese law prohibits investments by foreign investors in certain companies in certain industries. Certain industries that impact minors may be at a higher risk of regulatory action. The Chinese government placed new regulations on the companies related to after-school tutoring and private educational services, one of which is mandating that it must now be registered as a nonprofit organization.

*Industrials Sector Risk.* The Industrials Sector includes manufacturers and distributors of capital goods such as aerospace and defense, building projects, electrical components and equipment, construction machinery, and companies that offer construction and engineering services. This sector also includes providers of commercial and professional services including office services and supplies, security and alarm services, human resources/employment services, and research and consulting services. Included in the industrials sector are also companies that provide transportation services including air freight and logistics, airlines, railroads, and transportation infrastructure companies. A company in this sector is subject to the risk that the securities of such issuer will underperform the market as a whole due to legislative or regulatory changes, adverse market conditions, and/or increased competition affecting the industrials sector. The prices of the securities of companies operating in the industrials sector may fluctuate due to the level and volatility of commodity prices, the exchange value of the dollar, import controls, worldwide competition, liability for environmental damage, depletion of resources, and mandated expenditures for safety and pollution control devices.

*Information Technology Sector Risk.* The Information Technology Sector includes companies that offer software and information technology services and manufacturers and distributors of technology hardware and semiconductors. A company in this sector is subject to the risk that the securities of such issuer will underperform the market as a whole due to legislative or regulatory changes, adverse market conditions, and/or increased competition affecting the information technology sector. The prices of the securities of companies operating in the information technology sector are closely tied to market competition, increased sensitivity to short product cycles and aggressive pricing, and problems with bringing products to market.

**Passive Foreign Investment Companies.** Some securities of companies domiciled outside the U.S. in which the Fund may invest may be considered passive foreign investment companies ("PFICs") under U.S. tax laws. PFICs are foreign corporations which generate primarily passive income. For federal tax purposes, a corporation is deemed a PFIC if 75% or more of the foreign corporation's gross income for its tax year is passive income or, in general, if 50% or more of its assets are assets that produce or are held to produce passive income. Passive income is further defined as any income to be considered foreign personal holding company income within the subpart F provisions defined by Section 954 of the Internal Revenue Code.

Investing in PFICs involves the risks associated with investing in foreign securities, as described in the prospectus. There is also the risk that a Fund may not realize that a foreign corporation it invests in is a PFIC for federal tax purposes. Federal tax laws impose severe tax penalties for failure to properly report investment income from PFICs. Each Fund makes efforts to ensure compliance with federal tax reporting of these investments, however, there can be no guarantee that their efforts will always be successful.

**Unsponsored Depositary Receipts.** A Fund may invest in both sponsored and unsponsored arrangements. In a sponsored arrangement, the foreign issuer assumes the obligation to pay some or all of the depositary's transaction fees, whereas, in an unsponsored arrangement, the foreign issuer assumes no obligations and the depositary's transaction fees are paid by the holders. Foreign issuers in respect of whose securities unsponsored depositary receipts have been issued are not necessarily obligated to disclose material information in the markets in which the unsponsored depositary receipts are traded and, therefore, such information may not be reflected in the prices of such securities in those markets. Shareholder benefits, voting rights, and other attached rights may not be extended to the holders of unsponsored depositary receipts.

*Investments in Other Investment Companies.* The Funds can invest in securities issued by other investment companies, which can include open-end funds, closed-end funds, or exchange-traded funds ("ETFs" which are typically open-ended funds or unit investment trusts listed on a stock exchange). In some instances, an ETF or closed-end fund may trade at market prices that are higher or lower than the NAV. The Funds may do so as a way of gaining exposure to securities represented by the investment company's portfolio at times when the Funds may not be able to buy those securities directly. As shareholders of an investment company, the Funds would be subject to their ratable share of that investment company's expenses, including its advisory and administration expenses. At the same time, the Funds would bear their own management fees and expenses. To the extent that the management fees paid to an investment company are for the same or similar services as the management fees paid by the Fund, there would be a layering of fees that would increase expenses and decrease returns. The Funds do not intend to invest in other investment companies unless the Portfolio Manager(s) believes that the potential benefits of the investment justify the expenses. The Funds' investments in the securities of other investment companies are subject to the limits that apply to those kinds of investments under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as revised ("1940 Act").

*Initial Public Offerings.* An initial public offering ("IPO") is the initial public offering of securities of a particular company. IPOs in which a Fund invests can have a dramatic impact on Fund performance and assumptions about future performance based on that impact may not be warranted. Investing in IPOs involves risks. Many, but not all, of the companies issuing IPOs are small, unseasoned companies. Many are companies that have only been in operation for short periods of time. Small company securities, including IPOs, are subject to greater volatility in their prices than are securities issued by more established companies. If a Fund does not intend to make a long-term investment in an IPO (it is sometimes possible to immediately sell an IPO at a profit) the Adviser may not perform the same detailed research on the company that it does for core holdings.

*Rights and Warrants.* Rights and warrants are forms of equity securities. Warrants, basically, are options to purchase equity securities at specific prices valid for a specific period of time. Their prices do not necessarily move parallel to the prices of the underlying securities. Rights are similar to warrants, but normally have shorter maturities and are distributed directly by issuers to their shareholders. Rights and warrants have no voting rights, receive no dividends, and have no rights with respect to the assets of the issuer.

*Other Forms of Equity Securities.* In addition to common stock, a Fund may invest in other forms of equity securities including preferred stocks and securities with equity conversion or purchase rights. The prices of equity securities fluctuate based on changes in the financial condition of their issuers and on market and economic conditions. Events that have a negative impact on a business probably will be reflected in a decline in the price of its equity securities. Furthermore, when the total value of the stock market declines, most equity securities, even those issued by strong companies, likely will decline in value.

*Inflation Risk.* Also called purchasing power risk, is the chance that the cash flows from an investment won't be worth as much in the future because of changes in purchasing power due to inflation.

Real Estate Companies, Including REITs. Real estate securities are issued by companies that have at least 50% of the value of their assets, gross income or net profits attributable to ownership, financing, construction, management, or sale of real estate or to products or services that are related to real estate or the real estate industry. The Fund does not invest directly in real estate. Real estate companies include: real estate investment trusts ("REITs") or other securitized real estate investments, brokers, developers, lenders, and companies with substantial real estate holdings such as paper, lumber, hotel, and entertainment companies. REITs pool investors' funds for investment primarily in income-producing real estate or real estate-related loans or interests. A REIT is not taxed on income distributed to shareholders if it complies with various requirements relating to its organization, ownership, assets, and income, and with the requirement that it distribute to its shareholders at least 90% of its taxable income (other than net capital gains) each taxable year. REITs generally can be classified as equity REITs, mortgage REITs, or hybrid REITs. Equity REITs invest the majority of their assets directly in real property and derive their income primarily from rents. Equity REITs also can realize capital gains by selling property that has appreciated in value. Mortgage REITs invest the majority of their assets in real estate mortgages and derive their income primarily from interest payments. Hybrid REITs combine the characteristics of both equity REITs and mortgage REITs. To the extent that the management fees paid to a REIT are for the same or similar services as the management fees paid by the Fund, there will be a layering of fees which would increase expenses and decrease returns. Securities issued by REITs may trade less frequently and be less liquid than common stock issued by other companies.

Real estate securities, including REITs, are subject to risks associated with the direct ownership of real estate including: (1) declines in property values, because of changes in the economy or the surrounding area or because a particular region has become less appealing to tenants; (2) increases in property taxes, operating expenses, interest rates, or competition; (3) overbuilding; (4) changes in zoning laws; (5) losses from casualty or condemnation; (6) declines in the value of real estate related to general and local economic conditions; (7) uninsured casualties or condemnation losses; (8) fluctuations in rental income; (9) changes in neighborhood values; (10) the appeal of properties to tenants; (11) increases in interest rates, and (12) access to the credit markets. The Fund also could be subject to such risks by reason of direct ownership as a result of a default on a debt security it may own.

Equity REITs may be affected by changes in the value of the underlying property owned by the trusts while mortgage REITs may be affected by the quality of credit extended. Equity and mortgage REITs are dependent on management skill, may not be diversified, and are subject to project financing risks. REITs also are subject to: heavy cash flow dependency, defaults by borrowers, self-liquidation, the possibility of failing to qualify for the favorable federal income tax treatment generally available to REITs under the Internal Revenue Code, and failing to maintain exemption from registration under the 1940 Act. Changes in interest rates also may affect the value of the debt securities in the Fund's portfolio. By investing in REITs indirectly through the Fund, a shareholder will bear not only their proportionate share of the expense of the Fund but also, indirectly, similar expenses of the REITs, including compensation of management. Some real estate securities may be rated less than investment grade by rating services. Such securities may be subject to the risks of high-yield, high-risk securities discussed below.

**Preferred Stock Risk.** Preferred stock is a form of equity security and is generally ranked behind an issuer's debt securities in claims for dividends and assets of an issuer in a liquidation or bankruptcy. For this reason, the price of a preferred stock may react more strongly than the debt securities of an issuer. Preferred stock is subject to issuer and market risk that is applicable to equity securities in general. An adverse event may have a negative impact on a company and could result in a decline in the

price of its preferred stock. Preferred stock of smaller companies may be more vulnerable to adverse developments than preferred stock of larger companies.

*Convertible Securities.* Convertible securities are a form of equity security. Generally, convertible securities are bonds, debentures, notes, preferred stocks, warrants, and other securities that convert or are exchangeable into shares of the underlying common stock at a stated exchange ratio. Usually, the conversion or exchange is solely at the option of the holder. However, some convertible securities may be convertible or exchangeable at the option of the issuer or are automatically converted or exchanged at a certain time, on the occurrence of certain events, or have a combination of these characteristics. Usually a convertible security provides a long-term call on the issuer's common stock and therefore tends to appreciate in value as the underlying common stock appreciates in value. A convertible security also may be subject to redemption by the issuer after a certain date and under certain circumstances (including a specified price) established on issue. If a convertible security held by the Fund is called for redemption, the Fund could be required to tender it for redemption, convert it into the underlying common stock, or sell it.

Convertible bonds, debentures, and notes are varieties of debt securities and as such are subject to many of the same risks including interest rate sensitivity, changes in debt rating, and credit risk. In addition, convertible securities are often viewed by the issuer as future common stock subordinated to other debt and carry a lower rating than the issuer's non-convertible debt obligations. Thus, convertible securities are subject to many of the same risks as high-yield, high-risk securities. A more complete discussion of these risks is provided below in the sections titled *"Bonds and Other Debt Securities"* and *"High-Yield, High-Risk Debt Securities."* 

Due to its conversion feature, the price of a convertible security normally will vary in some proportion to changes in the price of the underlying common stock. A convertible security will also normally provide a higher yield than the underlying common stock (but generally lower than comparable non-convertible securities). Due to their higher yield, convertible securities generally sell above their "conversion value," which is the current value of the stock to be received on conversion. The difference between this conversion value and the price of convertible securities will vary over time depending on the value of the underlying common stocks and interest rates. When the underlying common stocks decline in value, convertible securities will tend not to decline to the same extent because the yield acts as a price support. When the underlying common stocks rise in value, the value of convertible securities also may be expected to increase, but generally will not increase to the same extent as the underlying common stocks.

Fixed income securities generally are considered to be interest rate sensitive. The value of convertible securities will change in response to changes in interest rates. During periods of falling interest rates, the value of convertible bonds generally rises. Conversely, during periods of rising interest rates, the value of such securities generally declines. Changes by recognized rating services in their ratings of debt securities and changes in the ability of an issuer to make payments of interest and principal also will affect the value of these investments.

#### **Fixed Income Strategies and Risks**

**Bonds and Other Debt Securities.** Bonds and other debt securities may be purchased by a Fund if the Adviser believes that such investments are consistent with the Fund's investment strategies, may contribute to the achievement of the Fund's investment objective, and will not violate any of the Fund's investment restrictions. The U.S. Government, corporations, and other issuers sell bonds and other debt securities to borrow money. Issuers pay investors interest and generally must repay the amount borrowed at maturity. Some debt securities, such as zero-coupon bonds, do not pay current interest, but are purchased at discounts from their face values. The prices of debt securities fluctuate, depending on such factors as interest rates, credit quality and maturity.

Bonds and other debt securities, generally, are subject to credit risk and interest rate risk. While debt securities issued by the U.S. Treasury generally are considered free of credit risk, debt issued by agencies and corporations all entail some level of credit risk. Investment grade debt securities have less credit risk than do high-yield, high-risk debt securities. Credit risk is described more fully in the section titled *"High-Yield, High-Risk Debt Securities."* 

Bonds and other debt securities, generally, are interest rate sensitive. During periods of falling interest rates, the values of debt securities held by a Fund generally rise. Conversely, during periods of rising interest rates, the values of such securities generally decline. Changes by recognized rating services in their ratings of debt securities and changes in the ability of an issuer to make payments of interest and principal also will affect the value of these investments.

**U.S. Government Securities.** U.S. Government securities represent loans by investors to the U.S. Treasury Department or a wide variety of government agencies and instrumentalities. Securities issued by most U.S. Government entities are neither guaranteed by the U.S. Treasury nor backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government. These entities include, among others, the Federal Home Loan Banks (FHLBs), the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA), and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC). Securities issued by the U.S. Treasury and a small number of U.S. Government agencies, such as the Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA), are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government. The values of U.S. Government and agency securities and U.S. Treasury securities are subject to fluctuation.

U.S. Government securities include mortgage-related securities issued by an agency or instrumentality of the U.S. Government. GNMA certificates are mortgage-backed securities representing part ownership of a pool of mortgage loans. These loans issued by lenders such as mortgage bankers, commercial banks, and savings and loan associations are either insured by the Federal Housing Administration or guaranteed by the Veterans Administration. A "pool" or group of such mortgages is assembled and, after being approved by GNMA, is offered to investors through securities dealers. Once approved by GNMA, the timely payment of interest and principal on each mortgage is guaranteed by GNMA and backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government. GNMA certificates differ from bonds in that principal is paid back monthly by the borrower over the term of the loan rather than returned in a lump sum at maturity. GNMA certificates are characterized as "pass-through" securities because both interest and principal payments (including prepayments) are passed through to the holder of such certificates.

As of September 7, 2008, the Federal Housing Finance Agency ("FHFA") was appointed as the conservator of FHLMC and FNMA for an indefinite period. In accordance with the Federal Housing Finance Regulatory Reform Act of 2008 and the Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act of 1992, as conservator, the FHFA will control and oversee these entities until the FHFA deems them financially sound and solvent. During the conservatorship, each entity's obligations are expected to be paid in the normal course of business. Although no express guarantee exists for the debt or mortgage-backed securities issued by these entities, the U.S. Department of the Treasury, through a securities lending credit facility and a senior preferred stock purchase agreement, has attempted to enhance the ability of the entities to meet their obligations.

Pools of mortgages also are issued or guaranteed by other agencies of the U.S. Government. The average life of pass-through pools varies with the maturities of the underlying mortgage instruments. In addition, a pool's term may be shortened or lengthened by unscheduled or early payment, or by slower than expected prepayment of principal and interest on the underlying mortgages. The occurrence of mortgage prepayments is affected by the level of interest rates, general economic conditions, the location and age of the mortgage and other social and demographic conditions. As prepayment rates of individual pools vary widely, it is not possible to accurately predict the average life of a particular pool.

A collateralized mortgage obligation ("CMO") is a debt security issued by a corporation, trust, custodian, or by a U.S. Government agency or instrumentality that is collateralized by a portfolio or pool of mortgages, mortgage-backed securities, U.S. Government securities, or corporate debt obligations. The issuer's obligation to make interest and principal payments is secured by the underlying pool or portfolio of securities. CMOs are most often issued in two or more classes (each of which is a separate security) with varying maturities and stated rates of interest. Interest and principal payments from the underlying collateral (generally a pool of mortgages) are not necessarily passed directly through to the holders of the CMOs. These payments typically are used to pay interest on all CMO classes and to retire successive class maturities in a sequence. Thus, the issuance of CMO classes with varying maturities and interest rates may result in greater predictability of maturity with one class and less predictability of maturity with another class than a direct investment in a mortgage-backed pass-through security (such as a GNMA certificate). Classes with shorter maturities, typically, have lower volatility and yield while those with longer maturities, typically, have higher volatility and yield. Thus, investments in CMOs provide greater or lesser control over the investment characteristics than mortgage pass-through securities and offer more defensive or aggressive investment alternatives.

Investments in mortgage-related U.S. Government securities, such as GNMA certificates and CMOs, also involve other risks. The yield on a pass-through security typically is quoted based on the maturity of the underlying instruments and the associated average life assumption. Actual prepayment experience may cause the yield to differ from the assumed average life yield. Accelerated prepayments adversely impact yields for pass-through securities purchased at a premium. The opposite is true for pass-through securities purchased at a discount. During periods of declining interest rates, prepayment of mortgages underlying pass-through certificates can be expected to accelerate. When the mortgage obligations are prepaid, a Fund reinvests the prepaid amounts in securities, the yields of which reflect interest rates prevailing at that time. Therefore, a Fund's ability to maintain a portfolio of high-yielding, mortgage-backed securities will be adversely affected to the extent that prepayments of mortgages that underlie securities purchased at a premium could result in capital losses. Investment in such securities also could subject a Fund to "maturity extension risk," which is the possibility that rising interest rates may cause prepayments to occur at a slower than expected rate. This particular risk may effectively change a security that was considered a short- or intermediate-term security at the time of purchase into a long-term security. Long-term securities generally fluctuate more widely in response to changes in interest rates than short or intermediate-term securities.

If a Fund purchases mortgage-backed securities that are "subordinated" to other interests in the same mortgage pool, the Fund, as a holder of those securities, may only receive payments after the pool's obligations to other investors have been satisfied. An unexpectedly high rate of defaults on the mortgages held by a mortgage pool may limit substantially the pool's ability to make payments of principal or interest to a Fund, as a holder of such subordinated securities, reducing the values of those securities or in some cases rendering them worthless; the risk of such defaults is generally higher in the case of mortgage pools that include so-called "subprime" mortgages. An unexpectedly high or low rate of prepayment on a pool's underlying mortgages may have similar effects on subordinated securities. A mortgage pool may issue securities subject to various levels of subordination; the risk of non-payment affects securities at each level, although the risk is greatest in the case of more highly subordinate securities.

The guarantees of the U.S. Government, its agencies, and its instrumentalities are guarantees of the timely payment of principal and interest on the obligations purchased. The value of the shares issued by a Fund is not guaranteed and will fluctuate with the value of a Fund's portfolio. Generally, when the level of interest rates rise, the value of a Fund's investment in U.S. Government securities is likely to decline and, when the level of interest rates decline, the value of a Fund's investment in U.S. Government securities is likely to rise.

A Fund may engage in portfolio trading primarily to take advantage of yield disparities. Such trading strategies may result in minor temporary increases or decreases in a Fund's current income and in its holding of debt securities that sell at substantial premiums or discounts from face value. If expectations of changes in interest rates or the price of the securities prove to be incorrect, a Fund's potential income and capital gain will be reduced or its potential loss will be increased.

*Interest Rate Sensitivity Risk.* If a security pays a fixed interest rate and market rates increase, the value of the fixed-rate security should decline. Interest rates may also have a powerful influence on the earnings of financial institutions.

*Credit Risk.* Like any borrower, the issuer of a fixed income security may be unable to make timely payments of interest and principal. If the issuer is unable to make payments in a timely fashion the value of the security will decline and may become worthless. Financial institutions are often highly leveraged and may not be able to make timely payments of interest and principal. Even U.S. Government Securities are subject to credit risk.

*High-Yield, High-Risk Debt Securities.* The real estate securities, convertible securities, bonds and other debt securities in which a Fund may invest may include high-yield, high-risk debt securities rated BB or lower by S&P Global ("S&P") or Ba or lower by Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's") or unrated securities. Securities rated BB or lower by S&P and Ba or lower by Moody's are referred to in the financial community as "junk bonds" and may include D-rated securities of issuers in default. See *Appendix A* for a more detailed description of the rating system. Ratings assigned by credit agencies do not evaluate market risks. The Adviser considers the ratings assigned by S&P or Moody's as one of several factors in its independent credit analysis of issuers. A description of each bond quality category is set forth in *Appendix A*, titled "*Quality Ratings of Debt Securities.*" The ratings of Moody's and S&P represent their opinions as to the quality of the securities that they undertake to rate. It should be emphasized, however, that ratings are relative, subjective, and are not absolute standards of quality. There is no assurance that any rating will not change. A Fund may retain a security whose rating has changed or has become unrated.

While likely to have some quality and protective characteristics, high-yield, high-risk debt securities, whether or not convertible into common stock, usually involve increased risk as to payment of principal and interest. Issuers of such securities may be highly leveraged and may not have available to them traditional methods of financing. Therefore, the risks associated with acquiring the securities of such issuers generally are greater than is the case with higher-rated securities. For example, during an economic downturn or a sustained period of rising interest rates, issuers of high-yield securities may be more likely to experience financial stress, especially if such issuers are highly leveraged. During such periods, such issuers may not have sufficient revenues to meet their principal and interest payment obligations. The issuer's ability to service its debt obligations also may be adversely affected by specific issuer developments, or the issuer's inability to meet specific projected business forecasts or the unavailability of additional financing. The risk of loss due to default by the issuer is significantly greater for the holders of high-yield securities because such securities may be unsecured and may be subordinated to other creditors of the issuer.

High-yield, high-risk debt securities are subject to greater price volatility than higher-rated securities, tend to decline in price more steeply than higher-rated securities in periods of economic difficulty or accelerating interest rates, and are subject to greater risk of non-payment in adverse economic times. There may be a thin trading market for such securities, which may have an adverse impact on market price and the ability of a Fund to dispose of particular issues and may cause a Fund to incur special securities' registration responsibilities, liabilities and costs, and liquidity and valuation difficulties. Unexpected net redemptions may force a Fund to sell high-yield, high-risk debt securities without regard to investment merit, thereby possibly reducing return rates. Such securities may be subject to redemptions or call provisions, which, if exercised when investment rates are declining, could result in the replacement of such securities with lower-yielding securities, resulting in a decreased return. To the extent that a Fund invests in bonds that are original issue discount, zero-coupon, pay-in-kind or deferred interest bonds, the Fund may have taxable interest income greater than the cash actually received on these issues. In order to avoid taxation at the Fund level, a Fund may have to sell portfolio securities to meet distribution requirements.

The values of high-yield, high-risk debt securities tend to reflect individual corporate developments to a greater extent than higher-rated securities, which react primarily to fluctuations in the general level of interest rates. Lower-rated securities also tend to be more sensitive to economic and industry conditions than higher-rated securities. Adverse publicity and investor perceptions, whether or not based on fundamental analysis regarding individual lower-rated bonds, may result in reduced prices for such securities. If the negative factors such as these adversely impact the value of high-yield, high-risk securities and a Fund holds such securities, the Fund's NAV will be adversely affected.

A Fund may have difficulty disposing of certain high-yield, high-risk bonds because there may be a thin trading market for such bonds. Because not all dealers maintain markets in all high-yield, high-risk bonds, a Fund anticipates that such bonds could be sold only to a limited number of dealers or institutional investors. The lack of a liquid secondary market may have an adverse impact on market price and the ability to dispose of particular issues and also may make it more difficult to obtain

accurate market quotations or valuations for purposes of valuing a Fund's assets. Market quotations generally are available on many high-yield issues only from a limited number of dealers and may not necessarily represent firm bid prices of such dealers or prices for actual sales. In addition, adverse publicity and investor perceptions may decrease the values and liquidity of high-yield, high-risk bonds regardless of a fundamental analysis of the investment merits of such bonds. To the extent that a Fund purchases illiquid or restricted bonds, it may incur special securities' registration responsibilities, liabilities and costs, and liquidity and valuation difficulties relating to such bonds.

Bonds may be subject to redemption or call provisions. If an issuer exercises these provisions when investment rates are declining, a Fund will be likely to replace such bonds with lower-yielding bonds, resulting in decreased returns. Zero-coupon, pay-in-kind, and deferred interest bonds involve additional special considerations. Zero-coupon bonds are debt obligations that do not entitle the holder to any periodic payments of interest prior to maturity or a specified cash payment date when the securities begin paying current interest (the "cash payment date") and therefore are issued and traded at discounts from their face amounts or par value. The market prices of zero-coupon securities generally are more volatile than the market prices of securities that pay interest periodically and are likely to respond to changes in interest rates to a greater degree than securities paying interest currently with similar maturities and credit quality. Pay-in-kind bonds pay interest in the form of other securities rather than cash. Deferred interest bonds defer the payment of interest to a later date. Zero-coupon, pay-in-kind, or deferred interest bonds carry additional risk in that, unlike bonds that pay interest in cash throughout the period to maturity, a Fund will realize no cash until the cash payment date unless a portion of such securities are sold. There is no assurance of the value or the liquidity of securities received from pay-in-kind bonds. If the issuer defaults, a Fund may obtain no return at all on its investment. To the extent that a Fund invests in bonds that are original issue discount, zero-coupon, pay-in-kind or deferred interest bonds, the Fund may have taxable interest income greater than the cash actually received on these issues. In order to distribute such income to avoid taxation, the Fund may have to sell portfolio securities to meet its distribution requirements under circumstances that could be adverse.

Federal tax legislation limits the tax advantages of issuing certain high-yield, high-risk bonds. This could have a materially adverse effect on the market for high-yield, high-risk bonds.

*Cash Management.* For defensive purposes or to accommodate inflows of cash awaiting more permanent investment, a Fund may temporarily and without limitation hold high-grade, short-term money market instruments, cash, and cash equivalents, including repurchase agreements. A Fund also may invest in registered investment companies which are regulated as money market funds or companies exempted from registration under Sections 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) of the 1940 Act that themselves primarily invest in temporary defensive investments, including U.S. Government securities and commercial paper. To the extent that the management fees paid to other investment companies are for the same or similar services as the management fees paid by a Fund, there will be a layering of fees that would increase expenses and decrease returns. Investments in other investment companies are limited by the 1940 Act and the rules thereunder.

In certain instances, the Funds may engage in repurchase agreement transactions through the Fixed Income Clearing Corporation ("FICC"). FICC sells U.S. Government or agency securities to each Fund under agreements to repurchase these securities at a stated repurchase price including interest for the term of the agreement. The term of the agreement will typically be overnight or over the weekend. Each Fund, through FICC, receives delivery of the underlying U.S. Government or agency securities as collateral, whose value is required to be at least equal to the repurchase price. If FICC were to become bankrupt, the Fund may be delayed or may incur costs or possible losses of principal and income in disposing of the collateral.

Master Limited Partnerships Risk. A Fund may invest in securities of master limited partnerships ("MLPs"). Investments in MLPs involve risks that differ from investments in common stock, including risks related to the following: (1) a common unit holder's limited control and limited rights to vote on matters affecting the MLP; (2) potential conflicts of interest between the MLP and the MLP's general partner; (3) cash flow; (4) dilution; and (5) the general partner's right to require unit holders to sell their common units at an undesirable time or price. MLP common unit holders may not elect the general partner or its directors and have limited ability to remove an MLP's general partner. MLPs may issue additional common units without unit holder approval which could dilute the ownership interests of investors holding MLP common units. MLP common units, like other equity securities, can be affected by macro-economic and other factors affecting the stock market in general, expectations of interest rates, investor sentiment towards an issuer or certain market sector, changes in a particular issuer's financial condition, or unfavorable or unanticipated poor performance of a particular issuer. Prices of common units of individual MLPs, like prices of other equity securities, also can be affected by fundamentals unique to the partnership or company, including earnings power and coverage ratios. A holder of MLP common units typically would not be shielded to the same extent that a shareholder of a corporation would be. In certain circumstances, creditors of an MLP would have the right to seek return of capital distributed to a limited partner, which would continue after an investor sold its investment in the MLP. The value of an MLP security may decline for reasons that directly relate to the issuer such as management performance, financial leverage and reduced demand for the issuer's products or services.

Currently, MLPs do not pay U.S. federal income tax at the partnership level. A change in current tax law, or a change in the underlying business mix of a given MLP, could result in an MLP being treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which could result in a requirement to pay federal income tax on its taxable income and have the effect of reducing the amount of cash available for distribution by the MLP, resulting in a reduction of the value of the common unit holder's

investment. Changes in the laws, regulations, or related interpretations relating to the Fund's investments in MLPs could increase the Fund's expenses, reduce its cash distributions, negatively impact the value of an investment in an MLP, or otherwise impact the Fund's ability to implement its investment strategy. Due to the heavy state and federal regulations that an MLP's assets may be subject to, an MLP's profitability could be adversely impacted by changes in the regulatory environment.

Generally, the securities markets may move down, sometimes rapidly and unpredictably, based on overall economic conditions and other factors. The value of a security may decline due to general market conditions that are not specifically related to a particular company, such as real or perceived adverse economic conditions, changes in the outlook for corporate earnings, changes in interest or currency rates, or adverse investor sentiment generally. A security's value also may decline because of factors that affect a particular industry or industries, such as labor shortages or increased production costs and competitive conditions within an industry.

<u>Derivatives</u>. The Fund is prohibited from investing in derivatives, excluding certain currency and interest rate hedging transactions. This restriction is not fundamental and may be changed by the Fund without a shareholder vote. If the Fund does determine to invest in derivatives in the future, it will comply with Rule 18f-4 under the 1940 Act.

#### Additional Non-Principal Investment Strategies and Risks

*Settlement Risk.* Settlement systems in some markets (especially those of developing countries) are generally less well organized than those of more developed markets. There may be risks that settlement may be delayed and that cash or securities belonging to a Fund may be at risk because of failures or defects in the systems. In particular, market practice may require that payment be made before receipt of the security being purchased or that delivery of a security be made before payment is received. In such a situation, a default by a broker or bank that is processing the transaction may cause a Fund to suffer a loss.

*Liquidity Risk Management.* While it is not anticipated to be an issue, the Funds' portfolios are managed with the restrictions and requirements of the Liquidity Rule's limitations in mind. The Adviser monitors the adequacy and effectiveness of the implementation of the LRMP on an ongoing basis. This monitoring includes a review of the Fund's liquidity risk based on a variety of factors including the Fund's (1) investment strategy, (2) portfolio liquidity and cash flow projections during normal and reasonably foreseeable stressed conditions, (3) shareholder redemptions, and (4) borrowing arrangements and other funding sources. The Liquidity Rule places a 15% limit on a fund's illiquid investments and requires a fund that does not primarily hold assets that are highly liquid investments to determine and maintain a minimum percentage of the fund's net assets in highly liquid investment minimum or HLIM). The LRMP includes provisions and safeguards that are reasonably designed to comply with the 15% limit on illiquid investments and the Fund is currently classified as a Fund that primarily holds highly liquid investments. The LRMP includes the classification, no less than monthly, of the Fund's investments into one of four liquidity classifications as provided for in the Liquidity Rule.

At a recent meeting of the Fund's Board of Trustees, the Adviser provided a written report to the Board pertaining to the operation, adequacy, and effectiveness of implementation of the LRMP from April 1, 2023 through March 31, 2024. The report concluded that the LRMP is operating effectively and is reasonably designed to assess and manage the Fund's liquidity risk. There can be no guarantee that the LRMP will achieve its objectives in the future.

**Distressed Companies.** A Fund may invest in or continue to hold debt or securities issued by distressed companies which are or are about to be involved in reorganizations, financial restructurings, or bankruptcy. A bankruptcy, merger, or other restructuring or a tender or exchange offer, proposed or pending at the time a Fund invests in the debt or securities may not be completed on the terms or within the time frame contemplated which may result in losses to the Fund. Debt obligations of distressed companies typically are unrated, lower-rated, in default, or close to default and are generally more likely to become worthless than the securities of more financially stable companies.

**Borrowing.** A Fund may purchase additional securities so long as borrowings do not exceed 5% of its total assets. A Fund may obtain such short-term credit as may be necessary for the clearance of purchases and sales of portfolio securities. A Fund may borrow from banks provided that, immediately after any such borrowing, there is an asset coverage of at least 300% for all borrowings. In the event that such asset coverage at any time falls below 300%, the Fund shall, within three business days thereafter, reduce the amount of its borrowings to an extent that the asset coverage of such borrowings shall be at least 300%. The Fund is not required to dispose of portfolio holdings immediately if the Fund would suffer losses as a result. Borrowing money to meet redemptions or other purposes would have the effect of temporarily leveraging a Fund's assets and potentially exposing the Fund to leveraged losses.

*Lending Portfolio Securities.* A Fund may lend its portfolio securities to certain types of eligible borrowers approved by the Board of Trustees. A Fund may engage in securities lending to earn additional income or to raise cash for liquidity purposes. The Fund must receive collateral for a loan. Under current applicable regulatory requirements (which are subject to change), on each business day, the loan collateral must be at least equal to the value of the loaned securities. The collateral must consist of cash, bank letters of credit, securities of the U.S. Government or its agencies or instrumentalities, or other cash equivalents in which the Fund is permitted to invest.

Lending activities are strictly limited as described in the section titled "Investment Restrictions." Lending money or securities involves the risk that a Fund may suffer a loss if a borrower does not repay a loan when due. To manage this risk, the Fund deals only with counterparties it believes to be creditworthy and requires that the counterparty deposit collateral with the Fund.

When it loans securities, a Fund still owns the securities, receives amounts equal to the dividends or interest on loaned securities and is subject to gains or losses on those securities. The Fund also receives one or more of: (1) negotiated loan fees; (2) interest on securities used as collateral; and/or (3) interest on any short-term debt instruments purchased with such loan collateral. Either type of interest may be shared with the borrower. The Fund also may pay reasonable finder's, custodian, and administrative fees in connection with these loans. The terms of the Fund's loans must meet applicable tests under the Internal Revenue Code and must permit the Fund to reacquire loaned securities on five days' notice or in time to vote on any important matter.

For purposes of applying the limitation set forth below in the Investment Restrictions sub-section titled "*Making Loans*," there are no limitations with respect to unsecured loans made by a Fund to an unaffiliated party. However, if a Fund loans its portfolio securities, the obligation on the part of the Fund to return collateral upon termination of the loan could be deemed to involve the issuance of a senior security within the meaning of Section 18(f) of the 1940 Act. In order to avoid violation of Section 18(f), a Fund may not make a loan of portfolio securities if, as a result, more than one-third of its total asset value (at value computed at the time of making a loan) would be on loan.

Income from securities lending as of the most recent fiscal year end:

|   | DUSA | DFNL         | DWLD         | DINT |
|---|------|--------------|--------------|------|
| Gross income from securities lending activities (including income from cash collateral reinvestment)                | \$ - | \$ -         | \$ -         | \$ - |
| Fees and/or compensation for securities lending activities and related services                                     | \$ - | \$ -         | \$ -         | \$ - |
| Fees paid to State Street from a revenue split for their services as securities lending agent                       | \$ - | \$ -         | \$ -         | \$ - |
|   | \$ - | \$ -         | \$ -         | \$ - |
| Fees paid for any cash collateral management services (including fees deducted                                      | \$ - | \$ -<br>\$ - | \$ -<br>\$ - | \$ - |
| from a pooled cash collateral reinvestment vehicle) that are not included in the revenue split paid to State Street |      |              |              |      |
| Administrative fees not included in revenue split   | \$ - | \$ -         | \$ -         | \$ - |
| Indemnification fees not included in revenue split  | \$ - | \$ -         | \$ -         | \$ - |
| Rebates (paid to borrowers)   | \$ - | \$ -         | \$ -         | \$ - |
| Other fees not included in revenue split (specify)  | \$ - | \$ -         | \$ -         | \$ - |
| Aggregate fees/compensation for securities lending activities   | \$ - | \$ -         | \$ -         | \$ - |
| Net income from securities lending activities   | \$ - | \$ -         | \$ -         | \$ - |

*Short Sales.* When a Fund believes that a security is overvalued, it may sell the security short and borrow the same security from a broker or other institution to complete the sale. If the price of the security decreases in value, the Fund may make a profit and, conversely, if the security increases in value, the Fund will incur a loss because it will have to replace the borrowed security by purchasing it at a higher price. There can be no assurance that a Fund will be able to close out the short position at any particular time or at an acceptable price. Although a Fund's gain is limited to the amount at which it sold a security short, its potential loss is not limited. A lender may request that the borrowed securities be returned on short notice. If that occurs at a time when other short sellers of the subject security are receiving similar requests, a "short squeeze" can occur. This means that a Fund might be compelled, at the most disadvantageous time, to replace borrowed securities were sold short. Short selling also may produce higher than normal portfolio turnover and result in increased transaction costs to the Fund. If a Fund sells a security short, it will either own an off-setting "long position" (an economically equivalent security which is owned) or establish a "Segregated Account" as described in this SAI.

A Fund also may make short sales "against-the-box," in which it sells short securities it owns. A Fund will incur transaction costs, including interest expenses, in connection with opening, maintaining, and closing short sales against-the-box, which results in a "constructive sale," requiring the Fund to recognize any taxable gain from the transaction.

Each Fund has adopted a non-fundamental investment limitation that prevents it from selling any security short if it would cause more than 5% of its total assets, taken at value, to be sold short. This limitation does not apply to selling short against the box.

*When-Issued and Delayed-Delivery Transactions.* A Fund can invest in securities on a "when-issued" basis and can purchase or sell securities on a "delayed-delivery" basis. When-issued and delayed-delivery are terms that refer to securities whose terms and indenture are available and for which a market exists but that are not available for immediate delivery.

When such transactions are negotiated, the price (which generally is expressed in yield terms) is fixed at the time the commitment is made. Delivery and payment for the securities take place at a later date (generally within 45 days of the date

the offer is accepted). The securities are subject to change in value from market fluctuation during the period until settlement. The value at delivery may be less than the purchase price. For example, changes in interest rates before settlement will affect the value of such securities and may cause a loss to the Fund. During the period between purchase and settlement, no payment is made by the Fund to the issuer and no interest accrues to the Fund from the investment.

A Fund may engage in when-issued transactions to secure what the Adviser considers to be an advantageous price and yield at the time of entering into the obligation. When a Fund enters into a when-issued or delayed-delivery transaction, it relies on the other party to complete the transaction. Its failure to do so may cause the Fund to lose the opportunity to obtain the security at a price and yield the Adviser considers to be advantageous. When a Fund engages in when-issued and delayed-delivery transactions, it does so for the purpose of acquiring or selling securities consistent with its investment objective and strategies, and not for the purpose of investment leverage. Although a Fund will enter into delayed-delivery or when-issued purchase transactions to acquire securities, it can dispose of a commitment before settlement. If a Fund chooses to dispose of the right to acquire a when-issued security before its acquisition or to dispose of its right to delivery or receive against a forward commitment, it may incur a gain or loss.

At the time a Fund makes the commitment to purchase or sell a security on a when-issued or delayed-delivery basis, it records the transaction on its books and reflects the value of the security purchased in determining the Fund's NAV. In a sale transaction, it records the proceeds to be received. A Fund will identify on its books liquid securities of any type at least equal in value to the value of the Fund's purchase commitments until the Fund pays for the investment.

When-issued and delayed-delivery transactions can be used by a Fund as defensive techniques to hedge against anticipated changes in interest rates and prices. For instance, in periods of rising interest rates and falling prices, a Fund might sell securities in its portfolio on a forward commitment basis to attempt to limit its exposure to anticipated falling prices. In periods of falling interest rates and rising prices, a Fund might sell portfolio securities and purchase the same or similar securities on a when-issued or delayed-delivery basis to obtain the benefit of currently higher cash yields.

*Cybersecurity Risk.* With the increased use of technologies such as the Internet to conduct business, the Funds have become potentially more susceptible to operational and information security risks through breaches in cybersecurity. In general, a breach in cybersecurity can result from either a deliberate attack or an unintentional event. Cybersecurity breaches may involve, among other things, infection by computer viruses or other malicious software code or unauthorized access to each Fund's digital information systems, networks or devices through "hacking" or other means, in each case for the purpose of misappropriating assets or sensitive information (including, for example, personal shareholder information), corrupting data or causing operational disruption or failures in the physical infrastructure or operating systems that support the Funds. Cybersecurity risks also include the risk of losses of service resulting from external attacks that do not require unauthorized access to the Funds' systems, networks or devices. For example, denial-of-service attacks on the investment adviser's or an affiliate's website could effectively render the Funds' network services unavailable to Fund shareholders and other intended end-users. Any such cybersecurity breaches or losses of service may cause the Funds to lose proprietary information, suffer data corruption, or lose operational capacity, which, in turn, could cause the Funds to incur regulatory penalties, reputational damage, additional compliance costs associated with corrective measures and/or financial loss. While each Fund and its investment adviser have established plans and procedures designed to prevent or reduce the impact of a cybersecurity attack, there is no guarantee that these plans and procedures will be successful. There are inherent limitations in these plans and procedures given the ever changing nature of technology and cybersecurity attack tactics and there is a possibility that certain risks have not been adequately identified or prepared for.

In addition, cybersecurity failures by or breaches of a Fund's third-party service providers (including, but not limited to, the Fund's investment adviser, transfer agent, custodian, liquidity market maker, primary exchange, authorized participants and other financial intermediaries) may disrupt the business operations of the service providers and of the Fund, potentially resulting in financial losses; the inability of authorized participants to transact business with the Fund and of the Fund to process transactions; the inability of the Fund to calculate its NAV; violations of applicable privacy and other laws, rules, and regulations; regulatory fines and penalties; reputational damage; reimbursement or other compensatory costs; and/or additional compliance costs associated with implementation of any corrective measures. A Fund and its shareholders could be negatively impacted as a result of any such cybersecurity breaches, and there can be no assurance that the Fund will not suffer losses relating to cybersecurity attacks or other informational security breaches affecting its third-party service providers in the future, particularly as it cannot control cybersecurity plans or systems implemented by such service providers.

Securities a Fund invests in are subject to cybersecurity risks in similar ways to the Fund. A cybersecurity risk or cybersecurity event may cause a Fund's investments in such issuers to lose value. In extreme cases, a risk or event could cause the issuer to cease business.

**Segregated Accounts.** A number of each Fund's potential non-principal investment strategies may require them to establish segregated accounts. When a Fund enters into an investment strategy that would result in a "senior security," as that term is defined in the 1940 Act, the Fund will either: (1) own an off-setting position in securities; or (2) set aside liquid securities in a segregated account with its custodian bank (or designated in the Fund's books and records) in the amount prescribed. A Fund will maintain the value of such segregated accounts equal to the prescribed amount by adding or removing additional liquid

securities to account for fluctuations in the value of securities held in such accounts. Securities held in a segregated account cannot be sold while the senior security is outstanding unless they are replaced with qualifying securities and the value of the account is maintained.

A segregated account is not required when a Fund holds securities, options, or futures positions whose value is expected to offset its obligations that would otherwise require a segregated account. A Fund may also use other SEC approved methods to reduce or eliminate the leveraged aspects of senior securities.

### **Portfolio Transactions**

The Adviser is responsible for the placement of portfolio transactions, subject to the supervision of the Funds' Board of Trustees. Following is a summary of the Adviser's trading policies which are described in Part 2 of its Form ADV. The Adviser is primarily a discretionary investment adviser. Accordingly, the Adviser generally determines the securities and quantities to be bought and sold for each client's account.

Portfolio turnover may vary from year to year, as well as within a year. High turnover rates are likely to result in comparatively greater brokerage expenses or transaction costs. The overall reasonableness of brokerage commissions and transaction costs is evaluated by the Adviser based upon its knowledge of available information as to the general level of commissions and transaction costs for comparable services.

Each Fund also has a Brokerage Committee, which reviews the Funds' trading as described in the section titled "Standing Committees of the Board of Trustees."

*Best Execution.* The Adviser follows procedures intended to provide reasonable assurance of best execution. However, there can be no assurance that best execution will in fact be achieved in any given transaction. The Adviser seeks to place portfolio transactions with brokers or dealers who will execute transactions as efficiently as possible and at the most favorable net price. In determining what constitutes best execution, the Adviser not only considers quantitative factors (i.e., the possible transaction cost), but also whether the transaction represents the best qualitative execution. In placing executions and paying brokerage commissions or dealer markups, the Adviser considers, among other factors, price, commission, timing, aggregated trades, capable floor brokers or traders, competent block trading coverage, ability to position, capital strength and stability, reliable and accurate communication and settlement processing, use of automation, knowledge of other buyers or sellers, arbitrage skills, administrative ability, underwriting and provision of information on the particular security or market in which the transaction is to occur, research, the range and quality of the services made available to clients, and the payment of bona fide client expenses. The Adviser may place orders for portfolio transactions with broker-dealers who have sold shares of funds which the Adviser serves as adviser or sub-adviser. However, when the Adviser places orders for portfolio transactions, it does not give any consideration to whether a broker-dealer has sold shares of the funds which the Adviser serves as adviser or sub-adviser. The applicability of specific criteria will vary depending on the nature of the transaction, the market in which it is executed and the extent to which it is possible to select from among multiple broker-dealers.

*Cross Trades.* When the Adviser deems it to be advantageous, a Fund may purchase or sell securities directly from or to another client account which is managed by the Adviser. This may happen due to a variety of circumstances, including situations when a Fund must purchase securities due to holding excess cash and, at the same time, a different client of the Adviser must sell securities in order to increase its cash position. Cross trades are only executed when deemed beneficial to a Fund and the other client and the Adviser has adopted written procedures to ensure fairness to both parties.

*Investment Allocations.* The Adviser considers many factors when allocating securities among its clients, (including the Funds) but not limited to, the client's investment style, applicable restrictions (i.e., a restriction preventing the holding of illiquid securities), availability of securities, available cash, anticipated liquidity and existing holdings. The Adviser employs several Portfolio Managers, each of whom performs independent research and develops different levels of conviction concerning potential investments. Clients managed by the Portfolio Manager performing the research may receive priority allocations of limited investment opportunities that are in short supply, including IPOs.

Clients are not assured of participating equally or at all in any particular investment opportunity. The nature of a client's investment style may exclude it from participating in many investment opportunities even if the client is not strictly precluded from participation based on written investment restrictions. For example: (1) large-cap value clients are unlikely to participate in IPOs of small-capitalization companies; (2) the Adviser may allocate short-term trading opportunities to clients pursuing active trading strategies rather than clients pursuing long-term, buy-and-hold strategies; (3) minimum block sizes may be optimal for liquidity which may limit the participation of smaller accounts; (4) it is sometimes impractical for some custodians to deal with securities which are difficult to settle; and (5) private accounts and managed money/wrap accounts generally do not participate in direct purchases of foreign securities, but may participate in depositary receipts ("GDRs").

The Adviser attempts to allocate limited investment opportunities, including IPOs, among clients in a manner that is fair and equitable when viewed over a considerable period of time and involving many allocations. Generally, the Adviser allocates investments to clients utilizing a pro rata methodology. When the Adviser is limited in the amount of a particular security it can

purchase due to a limited supply, limited liquidity, or other reasons, the Adviser may allocate the limited investment opportunity to a subset of eligible clients.

The Adviser serves as investment adviser for a number of clients and may deal with conflicts of interest when allocating investment opportunities among its various clients. For example: (1) the Adviser receives different advisory fees from different clients; (2) the performance records of some clients are more public than the performance records of other clients; and (3) the Adviser and its affiliates, owners, officers, and employees have invested substantial amounts of their own capital in some client accounts (notably the Davis Funds, Selected Funds, and Clipper Fund), but do not invest their own capital in every client's account. The majority of the Adviser's clients pursue specific investment strategies, many of which are similar. The Adviser expects that, over long periods of time, most clients pursuing similar investment strategies should experience similar, but not identical, investment performance. Many factors affect investment performance, including, but not limited to: (1) the timing of cash deposits and withdrawals to and from an account; (2) the fact that the Adviser may not purchase or sell a given security on behalf of all clients pursuing similar strategies; (3) price and timing differences when buying or selling securities; and (4) the clients' own different investment restrictions. The Adviser's trading policies are designed to minimize possible conflicts of interest in trading for its clients.

*Limitations on Aggregate Investments in a Single Company.* The Adviser's policy is not to invest for the purpose of exercising control or management of other companies. In extraordinary circumstances, the Adviser may seek to influence management. In such an event, appropriate government and regulatory filings would be made.

Federal and state laws, as well as company documents (sometimes referred to as "poison pills") may limit the percentage of a company's outstanding shares which may be purchased or owned by the Adviser's clients. This is especially true in heavily regulated industries such as insurance, banking and real estate investment trusts. Unless it can obtain an exception, the Adviser will not make additional purchases of these companies for its clients if, as a result of such purchase, shares in excess of the applicable investment limitation (for example, 9.9% of outstanding voting shares) would be held by its clients in the aggregate.

*Order Priority.* The Adviser's trading desk prioritizes incoming orders of similar purchases and sales of securities between institutional and managed money/wrap account orders. The Adviser's trading desk typically executes orders for institutional clients, including investment companies, institutional private accounts, sub-advised accounts, and others. Managed money/wrap account program sponsors typically execute orders for managed money/wrap accounts.

The Adviser's trading desk attempts to coordinate the timing of orders with a trade rotation to prevent the Adviser from "bidding against itself" on orders. Generally, a block trade representing a portion of the total trade is placed first for institutional and private accounts. Once this trade is completed, the Adviser places orders for wrap accounts, one sponsor at a time. Sponsors of certain model portfolios will execute trades for their clients. These model portfolio sponsors are included as a part of the wrap account trade rotation. If the Adviser has not received a response from a model portfolio sponsor within a reasonable period of time, the Adviser will resume through the trade rotation. If this occurs, it is possible that the model portfolio sponsor and the Adviser will be executing similar trades for discretionary clients. The trading concludes with another block transaction for institutional and private accounts. The trading desk follows procedures intended to provide reasonable assurance that no clients are disadvantaged by this trade rotation, and the compliance department monitors execution quality. However, there can be no assurance that best execution will in fact be achieved in any given transaction.

**Pattern Accounts**. The Adviser serves as investment adviser for a number of clients which are patterned after model portfolios or designated mutual funds managed by the Adviser. For example, a client pursuing the Adviser's large-cap value strategy may be patterned after Davis New York Venture Fund. A client patterned after Davis New York Venture Fund will usually have all of its trading (other than trading reflecting cash flows due to client deposits or withdrawals) aggregated with that of Davis New York Venture Fund. In unusual circumstances, the Adviser may not purchase or sell a given security on behalf of all clients (even clients managed in a similar style), and it may not execute a purchase of securities or a sale of securities for all participating clients at the same time.

Orders for accounts which are not patterned after model portfolios or designated mutual funds are generally executed in the order received by the trading desk with the following exceptions: (1) the execution of orders for clients that have directed that particular brokers be used may be delayed until the orders which do not direct a particular broker have been filled; (2) the execution of orders may be delayed when the client (or responsible Portfolio Manager) requests such delay due to market conditions in the security to be purchased or sold; and (3) the execution of orders which are to be bunched or aggregated.

*Aggregated Trades.* Generally, the Adviser's equity Portfolio Managers communicate investment decisions to a centralized equity trading desk while fixed income Portfolio Managers normally place their transactions themselves. The Adviser frequently follows the practice of aggregating orders of various institutional clients for execution if the Adviser believes that this will result in the best net price and most favorable execution. In some instances, aggregating trades could adversely affect a given client. However, the Adviser believes that aggregating trades generally benefits clients because larger orders tend to have lower execution costs and the Adviser's clients do not compete with each other trading in the market. Directed brokerage trades in a particular security are typically executed separately from, and possibly after, the Adviser's other client trades.

In general, all of the Adviser's clients (excluding clients who are directing brokerage and managed account/wrap programs) seeking to purchase or sell a given security at approximately the same time will, generally, be aggregated into a single order or series of orders. When an aggregated order is filled, all participating clients receive the price at which the order was executed. If, at a later time, the participating clients wish to purchase or sell additional shares of the same security or if additional clients seek to purchase or sell the same security, then the Adviser will issue a new order and the clients participating in the new order will receive the price at which the new order was executed.

In the event that an aggregated order is not entirely filled, the Adviser will allocate the purchases or sales among participating clients in the manner it considers to be most equitable and consistent with its fiduciary obligations to all such clients. Generally, partially-filled orders are allocated pro rata based on the initial order submitted by each participating client.

In accordance with the various managed account/wrap programs in which the Adviser participates, the Adviser typically directs all trading to the applicable program sponsor unless, in the Adviser's reasonable discretion, doing so would adversely affect the client. Clients typically pay no commissions on trades executed through program sponsors. In the event that an order to the sponsor of a managed account/wrap program is not entirely filled, the Adviser will allocate the purchases or sales among the clients of that sponsor in the manner it considers to be most equitable and consistent with its fiduciary obligations to all such clients. Generally, partially-filled orders are allocated among the particular sponsor's participating clients on a random basis that is anticipated to be equitable over time. The Adviser may, if circumstances permit, execute transactions for ETF clients through transfers-in-kind. There may be times that the Adviser is not able to aggregate transactions because of applicable law or other considerations when doing so might otherwise be advantageous.

*Trading Error Correction.* In the course of managing client accounts, it is possible that trading errors will occur from time to time. The Adviser has adopted Trading Error Correction Policies & Procedures which, when the Adviser is at fault, seek to place a client's account in the same position it would have been had there been no error. The Adviser retains flexibility in attempting to place a client's account in the same position it would have been had there been no error. The Adviser attempts to treat all material errors uniformly, regardless of whether they would result in a profit or loss to the client. For example, the Adviser may purchase securities from a client account at cost if they were acquired due to a trading error. If more than one trading error or a series of trading errors is discovered in a client account, then gains and losses on the erroneous trades may be netted.

*Research Paid for with Commissions.* The Adviser does not use client commissions ("Soft Dollars") to pay for: (1) computer hardware or software or other electronic communications facilities; (2) publications, both paper based or electronic, that are available to the general public; and (3) research reports that are created by parties other than the broker-dealers providing trade execution, clearing, and/or settlement services to the Adviser's clients. If the Adviser determines to purchase such services, it pays for them using its own resources.

The Adviser may receive research that is bundled with the trade execution, clearing, and/or settlement services provided by a particular broker-dealer. The Adviser may take into account the products and services as well as the execution capacity of a brokerage firm in selecting brokers. Thus, transactions may be directed to a brokerage firm that provides: (1) important information concerning a company; (2) introductions to key company officers; (3) industry and company conferences; and (4) other value added research services. The Adviser may have an incentive to select or recommend a broker-dealer based on its interest in continuing to receive these value added research or services that the Adviser believes are useful in its investment decision-making process but only when, in the Adviser's judgment, the broker-dealer is capable of providing best execution for that transaction. If the Adviser were to direct brokerage to a firm providing these value added services, the Adviser may receive a benefit as it may not have to pay for the services it has received.

Research or other services obtained in this manner may be used in servicing the Adviser's other accounts, including in connection with other Adviser client accounts other than those that pay commissions to the broker. Such products and services may disproportionately benefit other Adviser client accounts relative to the Funds based on the amount of brokerage commissions paid by the Funds and such other Adviser client accounts. For example, research or other services that are paid for through one client's commissions may not be used in managing that client's account.

The Adviser follows the concepts of Section 28(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Subject to the criteria of Section 28(e), the Adviser may pay a broker a brokerage commission in excess of that which another broker might have charged for effecting the same transactions, in recognition of the value of the brokerage and research services provided by or through the broker. The Adviser's Head Trader exercises their professional judgment to determine which brokerage firm is best suited to execute any given portfolio transaction. This includes transactions executed through brokerage firms which provide the services listed above. The Adviser does not attempt to allocate soft dollar benefits to client accounts proportionately to the commissions which the accounts pay to brokerage firms which provide research services. The Adviser believes it is important to its investment decision-making to have access to independent research.

*Exceptions.* There are occasions when the Adviser varies the trading procedures and considerations described above. The Adviser exercises its best judgment in determining whether clients should execute portfolio transactions simultaneously with, prior to, or subsequent to the model portfolio or designated mutual fund that they are patterned after. The factors that the Adviser considers in exercising its judgment include, but are not limited to, the need for confidentiality of the purchase or sale, market

liquidity of the securities in issue, the particular events or circumstances that prompt the purchase or sale of the securities, and operational efficiencies. Even when transactions are executed on the same day, clients may not receive the same price as the model portfolios or designated mutual funds they are patterned after. If the transactions are not aggregated, such prices may be better or worse.

**Portfolio Turnover.** Because the Funds' portfolios are managed using the Davis Investment Discipline, portfolio turnover is expected to be low. The Funds anticipate that, during normal market conditions, their annual portfolio turnover rate will be less than 100%. However, depending upon market conditions, portfolio turnover rate will vary. At times it could be high which could require the payment of larger amounts in brokerage commissions and possibly more taxable distributions.

When the Adviser deems it to be appropriate, a Fund may engage in active and frequent trading to achieve its investment objective. Active trading may include participation in IPOs. Active trading may result in the realization and distribution to shareholders of larger amounts of capital gains compared with a fund with less active trading strategies which could increase shareholder tax liability. Active trading may also generate larger amounts of short-term capital gains which are generally taxable as ordinary income when distributed to taxable shareholders. Frequent trading also increases transaction costs which could detract from a Fund's performance.

#### **Portfolio Commissions**

| The Funds paid the following brokerage commissions |           |          |          |  |  |  |
|--|-----------|----------|----------|--|--|--|
| Fiscal Year-Ended October 31,                      | 2024      | 2023     | 2022     |  |  |  |
| Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF                       |           |          |          |  |  |  |
| Brokerage commissions paid:                        | \$49,002  | \$87,380 | \$39,656 |  |  |  |
| Amount paid to brokers providing research:         | None      | None     | None     |  |  |  |
| Amount paid to brokers providing services:         | None      | None     | None     |  |  |  |
| Davis Select International ETF                     |           |          |          |  |  |  |
| Brokerage commissions paid:                        | \$63,226  | \$40,006 | \$52,300 |  |  |  |
| Amount paid to brokers providing research:         | None      | None     | None     |  |  |  |
| Amount paid to brokers providing services:         | None      | None     | None     |  |  |  |
| Davis Select Worldwide ETF                         |           |          |          |  |  |  |
| Brokerage commissions paid:                        | \$102,930 | \$42,457 | \$64,612 |  |  |  |
| Amount paid to brokers providing research:         | None      | None     | None     |  |  |  |
| Amount paid to brokers providing services:         | None      | None     | None     |  |  |  |
| Davis Select Financial ETF                         |           |          |          |  |  |  |
| Brokerage commissions paid:                        | \$1,240   | \$13,032 | \$9,055  |  |  |  |
| Amount paid to brokers providing research:         | None      | None     | None     |  |  |  |
| Amount paid to brokers providing services:         | None      | None     | None     |  |  |  |
|  |           |          |          |  |  |  |

<u>Investments in Certain Broker-Dealers</u>. Each Fund is required to identify any securities of its "regular brokers and dealers" (as such term is defined in the 1940 Act) that it may hold at the close of its most recent fiscal year. Regular brokers or dealers of the Trust are the ten brokers or dealers that, during the most recent fiscal year: (1) received the greatest dollar amounts of brokerage commissions from the Trust's portfolio transactions; (2) engaged as principal in the largest dollar amounts of portfolio transactions of the Trust; or (3) sold the largest dollar amounts of the Trust's shares. As of the most recent fiscal year-ended October 31, 2024, the Funds owned no securities (excluding repurchase agreements) issued by broker dealers.

| Fund                           | Broker-Dealer        | Value        |
|--------------------------------|----------------------|--------------|
| Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF   | Wells Fargo & Co.    | \$23,676,779 |
|                                | JPMorgan Chase & Co. | \$9,094,725  |
| Davis Select International ETF | None                 |              |
| Davis Select Worldwide ETF     | Wells Fargo & Co.    | \$4,227,850  |
| Davis Select Financial ETF     | JPMorgan Chase & Co. | \$13,588,606 |
|                                | Wells Fargo & Co.    | \$11,940,606 |
|                                | Charles Schwab Corp. | \$2,465,593  |

#### **Investment Restrictions**

The Funds follow investment strategies developed in accordance with their investment objectives, policies and restrictions described in their prospectus and this SAI.

The Funds have adopted the fundamental investment policies set forth below which may not be changed without shareholder approval. Where necessary, an explanation following a fundamental policy describes the Funds' practices with respect to that policy as permitted by governing rules, regulations, and interpretations. If the governing rules, regulations, and/or interpretations change, the Funds' investment practices may change without a shareholder vote. The fundamental investment restrictions set forth below may not be changed without the approval of the lesser of: (1) 67% or more of the voting securities present at such meeting if the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of such company are present or represented by proxy; or (2) more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of such company.

Except for the fundamental investment policies regarding borrowing, all percentage restrictions apply as of the time of an investment without regard to any later fluctuations in the value of portfolio securities or other assets. All references to the assets of a Fund are in terms of current value.

• *Diversification (Davis Select International ETF & Davis Select Worldwide ETF).* The Fund may not make any investment that is inconsistent with its classification as a diversified investment company under the 1940 Act.

*Further Explanation of Diversification Policy.* To remain classified as a diversified investment company under the 1940 Act, a Fund must conform with the following: with respect to 75% of its total assets, a diversified investment company may not invest more than 5% of its total assets, determined at market or other fair value at the time of purchase, in the securities of any one issuer or invest in more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer, determined at the time of purchase. These limitations do not apply to investments in securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Government or its agencies or instrumentalities or securities issued by investment companies.

# *Diversification (Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF & Davis Select Financial ETF).* The Funds are not required to diversify their investments.

*Further Explanation of Diversification Policy.* Each Fund intends to remain classified as a RIC under the Code. This requires the Funds to conform to the following: (1) at the end of each quarter of the taxable year, at least 50% of the value of a Fund's total assets must be represented by cash and cash items, U.S. Government securities, securities of other regulated investment companies, and "other securities." For this purpose, "other securities" does not include investments in the securities of any one issuer that represent more than 5% of the value of a Fund's total assets or more than 10% of the issuer's outstanding voting securities.

*Concentration (Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF, Davis Select International ETF & Davis Select Worldwide ETF).* The Funds may not concentrate their investments in the securities of issuers primarily engaged in any particular industry or group of industries.

*Further Explanation of Concentration Policy*. The Funds may not invest 25% or more of their total assets, taken at value, in the securities of issuers primarily engaged in any particular industry (other than securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Government or its agencies or instrumentalities). The Funds generally use the Global Industry Classification Standard ("GICS") as developed by Morgan Stanley Capital International and S&P Global to determine industry classification. GICS presents industry classification as a series of levels (i.e., sector, industry group, industry, and sub-industry). For purposes of measuring concentration, the Adviser generally classifies companies at the "industry group" or "industry" level. However, further analysis may lead the Adviser to classify companies at the sub-industry level. The Adviser will only measure concentration at the sub-industry level when it believes that the various sub-industries in question can reasonably be expected to be impacted differently to a material extent by future economic events. For example, in the "Insurance, property & casualty insurance, and reinsurance) can reasonably be expected to be impacted differently to a material extent by future economic events such as natural disasters, global politics, inflation, unemployment, technology, etc. In addition, the Adviser may reclassify a company into an entirely different sector if it believes that the GICS classification on a specific company does not accurately describe the company.

Concentration (Davis Select Financial ETF). The Fund concentrates its investments in the financial services industry.

*Further Explanation of Concentration Policy.* Financial services are a "sector" composed of a number of "industries," examples of which are included in the following paragraph. The concentration policy requires the Fund to invest at least 25% of its assets in securities principally engaged in the financial services group of industries which together make up the financial services sector. Due to the non-fundamental Name Policy, under normal circumstances the Fund invests at least 80% of its net assets, plus any borrowing for investment purposes, in securities issued by companies principally engaged in the financial services sector.

A company is "principally engaged" in financial services if it owns financial services related assets constituting at least 50% of the total value of the company's assets, or if at least 50% of the company's revenues are derived from its provision of financial services. The financial services sector consists of several different industries that behave differently in different economic and market environments (e.g., banks, insurance, and securities brokerage houses). Companies with their principal business activity in one of the following areas are considered financial services firms: banks, thrifts and mortgage, specialized finance, consumer finance, asset management, custody, investment banking, brokerage, insurance, financial exchanges and data, and mortgage REITs.

The Fund may not invest 25% or more of its total assets, taken at value, in the securities of issuers primarily engaged in any particular industry (other than issuers in the financial services sector or securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Government or its agencies or instrumentalities).

• *Issuing Senior Securities (All Funds).* The Funds may not issue senior securities, except as permitted under applicable law, including the 1940 Act and published SEC staff positions.

<u>Further Explanation of Issuing Senior Securities</u>. The Funds may not issue senior securities, except as provided by the 1940 Act and any rules, regulations, orders, or letters issued thereunder. This limitation does not apply to selling short against the box. See the non-fundamental restriction further limiting short selling below. The 1940 Act defines a "Senior Security" as any bond, debenture, note, or similar obligation constituting a security and evidencing indebtedness.

• *Borrowing (All Funds).* The Funds may not borrow money, except to the extent permitted by applicable law including the 1940 Act and published SEC staff positions.

*Further Explanation of Borrowing Policy.* Each Fund may borrow from banks provided that, immediately thereafter, the Fund has 300% asset coverage for all borrowings. Each Fund may purchase additional securities so long as borrowings do not exceed 5% of its total assets. A Fund may obtain such short-term credit as may be necessary for the clearance of purchases and sales of portfolio securities. In the event that market fluctuations cause borrowing to exceed the limits stated above, the Adviser would act to remedy the situation as promptly as possible, normally within three business days. The Adviser is not required to dispose of portfolio holdings immediately if the Fund would suffer losses as a result.

• Underwriting (All Funds). The Funds may not underwrite securities of other issuers except to the extent permitted by applicable law, including the 1940 Act and published SEC staff positions.

<u>Further Explanation of Underwriting Policy</u>. The Funds may not underwrite securities of other issuers, except insofar as a Fund may be deemed to be an underwriter in connection with the disposition of its portfolio securities.

• *Investments in Commodities and Real Estate (All Funds).* The Funds may not purchase or sell commodities or real estate, except to the extent permitted by applicable law, including the 1940 Act and published SEC staff positions.

*Further Explanation of Policy Restricting Investments in Commodities and Real Estate.* The Funds may purchase or sell financial futures contracts, options on financial futures contracts, currency contracts, and options on currency contracts as described in their prospectus and SAI. A Fund may not purchase or sell real estate, except that a Fund may invest in securities that are directly or indirectly secured by real estate or issued by issuers that invest in real estate.

• *Making Loans (All Funds).* The Funds may not make loans to other persons, except as allowed by applicable law including the 1940 Act and published SEC staff positions.

*Further Explanation of Lending Policy*. The acquisition of investment securities or other investment instruments, entering into repurchase agreements, leaving cash on deposit with the Funds' custodian, and similar actions are not deemed to be the making of a loan.

To generate income and offset expenses, a Fund may lend portfolio securities to broker-dealers and other financial institutions that the Adviser believes to be creditworthy in an amount up to 33<sup>1</sup>/<sub>3</sub>% of its total assets, taken at value. While securities are on loan, the borrower will pay the Fund any income accruing on the security. A Fund may invest any collateral it receives in additional portfolio securities, typically U.S. Treasury notes, certificates of deposit, other high-grade, short-term obligations, or interest-bearing cash equivalents. A Fund is still subject to gains or losses due to changes in the value of securities that it has lent.

When a Fund lends its securities, it will require the borrower to give it collateral in cash or U.S. Government securities. A Fund will require collateral in an amount equal to at least 100% of the current value of the securities lent, including accrued interest. A Fund has the right to call a loan and obtain the securities lent any time on notice of not more than five business days. A Fund may pay reasonable fees in connection with such loans.

#### Non-Fundamental Investment Policies

The Funds have adopted and will follow the non-fundamental investment policies set forth below which may be changed by the Funds' Board of Trustees without the approval of the Funds' shareholders.

- <u>Liquidity</u>. The Portfolio shall be invested in publicly traded or otherwise readily marketable equity securities. A security may become illiquid after purchase. If this occurs the Adviser would attempt to liquidate a Fund's investment in this illiquid security in an orderly fashion.
- <u>High-Yield, High-Risk Securities</u>. A Fund will not purchase debt securities rated BB or Ba or lower (sometimes referred to as "Junk Bonds") if the securities are in default at the time of purchase or if such purchase would then cause more than 20% of the Fund's net assets to be invested in such lower-rated securities.
- <u>Short Selling</u>. A Fund will not sell any security short if it would cause more than 5% of its total assets, taken at value, to be sold short. This limitation does not apply to selling short against the box.
- *Investing for Control*. A Fund does not invest for the purpose of exercising control or management of other companies.
- <u>Mortgage, Pledge, Lend or Hypothecate Assets</u>. A Fund will not mortgage, pledge, lend, or hypothecate more than 33<sup>1</sup>/<sub>3</sub>% of its total assets, taken at value, in securities lending or other activities.

Name Policy. Under normal circumstances, Davis Select Financial ETF invests at least 80% of net assets, plus any borrowing for investment purposes, in securities issued by companies principally engaged in the financial services sector. Under normal circumstances, Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF invests at least 80% of net assets plus any borrowing for investment purposes in equity securities issued by U.S. companies. Under normal circumstances, Davis Select Worldwide ETF and Davis Select International ETF will invest at least 40% of net assets in securities issued by companies (1) organized or located outside of the U.S.; (2) whose primary trading market is located outside the U.S.; or (3) doing a substantial amount of business outside the U.S., which the Fund considers to be a company that derives at least 50% of its revenue from business outside the U.S. or has at least 50% of its assets outside the U.S. Each Fund will comply with its Name Policy as of the time an investment is made. If at some point a Fund no longer meets the 80% test (e.g., due to value changes), it would not be required to sell assets, although any future investments would need to be made in a manner that tends to bring the Fund back into compliance. In addition, because the 80% test applies under "normal circumstances," a Fund could depart from the 80% requirement to take temporary defensive positions or due to other unusual events.

Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF, Davis Select Financial ETF, Davis Select International ETF or Davis Select Worldwide ETF would provide Fund shareholders with at least 60 days' prior notice before changing its Name Policy, as described above.

# **Exchange Listing and Trading**

A discussion of exchange listing and trading matters associated with an investment in a Fund is contained in the prospectus under "*Buying and Selling Shares*." The discussion below supplements, and should be read in conjunction with, such section of the prospectus.

The shares of a Fund are approved for listing and trading on the Exchange, subject to notice of issuance. The shares trade on the Exchange at prices that may differ from their NAV. There can be no assurance that the requirements of the Exchange necessary to maintain the listing of shares of a Fund will continue to be met.

The Exchange may, but is not required to, remove the shares of a Fund from listing if: (1) a Fund is no longer eligible to operate in reliance on Rule 6c-11 under the Investment Company Act of 1940; (2) if following the initial twelve-month period beginning upon the commencement of trading of a Fund, there are fewer than 50 beneficial holders of the shares for 30 or more consecutive trading days; (3) if any of the other listing requirements are not continuously maintained; (4) if a Fund has failed to file any filings required by the SEC or it is not in compliance with any exemptive order or no-action relief granted by the commission; or (5) such other event shall occur or condition exists that, in the opinion of the Exchange, makes further dealings on the Exchange inadvisable. In addition, the Exchange will remove the shares from listing and trading upon termination of the Trust or a Fund.

The Trust reserves the right to adjust the share price of a Fund in the future to maintain convenient trading ranges for investors. Any adjustments would be accomplished through stock splits or reverse stock splits, which would have no effect on the net assets of the Fund.

As in the case of other publicly traded securities, brokers' commissions on transactions will be based on negotiated commission rates at customary levels.

The base and trading currencies of the Funds is the U.S. dollar. The base currency is the currency in which the Funds' NAV per share is calculated and the trading currency is the currency in which shares of the Funds are listed and traded on the Exchange.

# SECTION II: THE TRUST AND KEY PERSONS

This SAI should be read in conjunction with the prospectus. This SAI supplements the information available in the prospectus.

# **Organization of the Trust**

*The Trust.* Davis Fundamental ETF Trust is a business trust established in Delaware in 2016 and registered under the 1940 Act. The Trust may issue multiple series, each of which would represent an interest in its separate portfolio. Currently, there are four series: (1) Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF ("DUSA"); (2) Davis Select Financial ETF ("DFNL"); (3) Davis Select International ETF ("DINT"); and (4) Davis Select Worldwide ETF ("DWLD"). For some issues, such as the election of

Trustees, all of the Trust's authorized series vote together. For other issues, such as approval of the advisory agreement, each authorized series votes separately. Shares do not have cumulative voting rights. Therefore, the holders of more than 50% of the voting power can elect all of the Trustees. Rule 18f-2 under the 1940 Act provides that any matter required to be submitted under the provisions of the 1940 Act or applicable state law or otherwise to the shareholders of the outstanding voting securities of an investment company will not be deemed to have been effectively acted on unless approved by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of each series affected by such matter. Rule 18f-2 further provides that a series shall be deemed to be affected by a matter unless it is clear that the interests of each series in the matter are identical or that the matter does not affect any interest of such series. Rule 18f-2 exempts the selection of independent accountants and the election of members of the Board of Trustees from the separate voting requirements of the Rule.

The Trust does not hold regular annual shareholder meetings. Shareholder meetings are held when they are required under the 1940 Act or when otherwise called for special purposes. Special shareholder meetings may be called on the written request of shareholders of at least  $\frac{1}{2}$  of the voting power that could be cast at the meeting. The Funds will provide assistance in calling and holding such special meetings to the extent required by applicable Delaware law or SEC rules and regulations then in effect.

# **Trustees and Officers**

The management of the Trust, including general supervision of the duties performed for the Funds by the Adviser under the Investment Management Agreement, is the responsibility of the Board of Trustees (the "Board"). The Board is comprised of three members, one of whom is an "interested person" (as such term "interested person" is defined in the 1940 Act) and two of whom are not interested persons (referred to herein as "Independent Trustees"). One Independent Trustee was previously an Officer to the Adviser and its affiliates. The Board establishes each Fund's policies and meets regularly to review the activities of the Officers, who are responsible for day-to-day operations of the Funds, the Adviser, and certain other service providers. The Board approves all significant agreements between each Fund and those companies that furnish services to the Funds. Trustees are elected and serve until their successors are elected and qualified. Information about the Trustees, including their business addresses, dates of birth, principal occupations during the past five years and other current Directorships of publicly traded companies or funds, are set forth in the table below.

Kenneth Eich serves as the Chairman of the Board. The Independent Trustees have designated a Lead Independent Trustee, who functions as a liaison between the Chairman of the Board and the other Independent Trustee(s). The Lead Independent Trustee presides at all Executive Sessions of the Independent Trustees, reviews and provides input on Board meeting agendas and materials, and typically represents the Independent Trustees in discussions with Davis Advisors management. Ralph Egizi currently serves as Lead Independent Trustee. The Board has reviewed and determined that its leadership and committee structure is appropriate. The Chairman may perform such other functions as may be requested by the Board from time to time. The Board has designated a number of standing committees, as further described below, each of which has a Chairman. The Board also may designate working groups or ad hoc committees as it deems appropriate.

The Board believes that this leadership structure is appropriate because it allows the Board to exercise informed and independent judgment over matters under its purview and it allocates areas of responsibility among committees or working groups of Trustees and the full Board in a manner that enhances effective oversight. The Board also believes that having a majority of Independent Trustees is appropriate and in the best interest of each Fund's shareholders. Nevertheless, the Board also believes that having interested persons serve on the Board brings corporate and financial viewpoints that are, in the Board's view, crucial elements in its decision-making process. The leadership structure of the Board may be changed at any time and at the discretion of the Board, including in response to changes in circumstances or the characteristics of the Funds.

# Trustees

For the purposes of their service as Trustees to the Trust, the business address for each of the Trustees is: 2949 East Elvira Road, Suite 101, Tucson, AZ 85756.

| Name, Date of Birth,<br>Position(s) Held with Fund,<br>Length of Service      | Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5<br>Years  | Number of<br>Portfolios<br>Overseen | Other Directorships Held by<br>Trustee During the Past 5 Years  |
|---|---|-------------------------------------|---|
| Independent Trustees:<br>Ralph J. Egizi<br>(03/31/1948)<br>Trustee since 2016 | President, EGZ International, LLC<br>(investment and financial consulting<br>company); Director, Benefits Finance and<br>Investments, Eastman Chemical Company<br>(manufacturer of chemicals, fibers and<br>plastics), from 1999 to 2013. | 4                                   | None  |
| Lawrence Harris<br>(09/16/56)<br>Trustee since 2025                           | Fred V. Keenan Chair in Finance of the<br>Marshall School of Business, University of<br>Southern California, Los Angeles, CA.   | 4                                   | Director, Interactive Brokers<br>Group, Inc.; Director, Selected<br>Funds (consisting of two<br>portfolios), from 2015 to 2024;<br>Trustee, Clipper Funds Trust<br>(consisting of one portfolio), from<br>2006 to 2024. |
| <b>Thomas D. Tays</b><br>(03/07/1957)<br>Trustee since 2016                   | Retired. Chief Legal Officer, Davis Selected Advisers, L.P. from 1997 to 2013.  | 4                                   | None  |
| Interested Trustee:   |   |                                     |   |
| Kenneth C. Eich<br>(08/14/1953)<br>Trustee since 2016                         | Chief Operating Officer, Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.  | 4                                   | None  |

#### **Independent Trustees' Compensation**

Independent Trustees receive an annual retainer for their service. During the fiscal year ended October 31, 2024, the compensation paid to the Independent Trustees is provided in the table below. The Trustees receive no pecuniary retirement benefits accrued as Fund expenses. Interested Trustees are not compensated by the Funds.

| Independent Trustees | DUSA    | DFNL    | DWLD    | DINT    | Aggregate Fund<br>Compensation <sup>(1)</sup> | Total Complex<br>Compensation <sup>(2)</sup> |
|----------------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---|--|
| Ralph J. Egizi       | \$9,963 | \$4,150 | \$6,268 | \$3,619 | \$24,000                                      | \$24,000                                     |
| Lawrence Harris      | \$0     | \$0     | \$0     | \$0     | \$0   | \$97,060                                     |
| Thomas D. Tays       | \$9,963 | \$4,150 | \$6,268 | \$3,619 | \$24,000                                      | \$24,000                                     |

<sup>(1)</sup> "Aggregate Fund Compensation" is the aggregate compensation paid for service as a Trustee by all series of the Trust.

<sup>(2)</sup> "Total Complex Compensation" is the aggregate compensation paid for service as a Trustee by all mutual funds with the same investment adviser. There are seven registered investment companies in the complex.

#### Officers

All Officers of the Trust (including the Interested Trustee/Chairman) hold positions as executive officers with the Adviser and its affiliates, including the Sub-Adviser, Davis Distributors, LLC, Davis Investments, LLC (the sole general partner of the Adviser) and other affiliated companies. The Trust does not pay salaries to any of its Officers. Each of the Trust's Officers serves for one year, and until their successor is elected and qualified.

*Lisa Cohen (born 04/25/89, Officer of Davis Fundamental ETF Trust since 2021).* Vice President and Secretary of the Davis Fundamental ETF Trust (consisting of four portfolios), Davis Funds (consisting of thirteen portfolios), Selected Funds (consisting of two portfolios) and Clipper Funds Trust (consisting of one portfolio); Vice President, Chief Legal Officer, and Secretary of Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.; and also serves as an executive officer of certain companies affiliated with the Adviser. Prior to assuming these positions, Ms. Cohen worked for Honeywell International, Inc. (01/2020-06/2021) and as an attorney at Davis Selected Advisers, L.P. (12/2015-01/2020).

*Christopher Davis (born 07/13/65, Officer of Davis Fundamental ETF Trust since 2016).* President of the Davis Fundamental ETF Trust (consisting of four portfolios), Davis Funds (consisting of thirteen portfolios), Selected Funds (consisting of two portfolios) and Clipper Funds Trust (consisting of one portfolio); Director Davis Funds, Selected Funds and Clipper Fund; Chairman of Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.; and also serves as an executive officer of certain companies affiliated with the Adviser, including sole member of the Adviser's general partner, Davis Investments, LLC.

*Kenneth Eich (born 08/14/53, Officer of Davis Fundamental ETF Trust since 2016).* Executive Vice President and Principal Executive Officer of the Davis Fundamental ETF Trust (consisting of four portfolios), Davis Funds (consisting of thirteen portfolios), Selected Funds (consisting of two portfolios) and Clipper Funds Trust (consisting of one portfolio); Chief Operating Officer of Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.; and also serves as an executive officer of certain companies affiliated with the Adviser.

**Douglas Haines (born 03/04/71, Officer of Davis Fundamental ETF Trust since 2016).** Vice President, Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer of the Davis Fundamental ETF Trust (consisting of four portfolios), Davis Funds (consisting of thirteen portfolios), Selected Funds (consisting of two portfolios) and Clipper Funds Trust (consisting of one portfolio); Vice President and Director of Fund Accounting of Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.

*Michaela McLoughry (born 03/21/81, Officer of Davis Fundamental ETF Trust since 2023).* Vice President and Chief Compliance Officer of the Davis Fundamental ETF Trust (consisting of four portfolios), Davis Funds (consisting of thirteen portfolios), Selected Funds (consisting of two portfolios) and Clipper Funds Trust (consisting of one portfolio); Vice President and Chief Compliance Officer of Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.; and also serves as an executive officer of certain companies affiliated with the Adviser. Prior to assuming these positions, Ms. McLoughry spent approximately 18 years in the Fund Accounting department at Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.

*Jeffrey Pittman (born 03/03/72, Officer of Davis Fundamental ETF Trust since 2021).* Assistant Secretary of the Davis Fundamental ETF Trust (consisting of four portfolios); Assistant Secretary of Davis Selected Advisers, L.P., and also serves as an executive officer of certain companies affiliated with the Adviser. Prior to assuming these positions, Mr. Pittman spent 12 years in the Legal department at Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.

# **Standing Committees of the Board of Trustees**

Although the Board has general criteria that guide its choice of candidates to serve on the Board, there are no specific required qualifications for Board membership, including with respect to the diversity of candidates for Board membership. Candidates for Board membership nominated by shareholders are not treated differently than candidates nominated from other sources. The Board believes that the different perspectives, viewpoints, professional experience, education and individual qualities of each Trustee represent a diversity of experiences and a variety of complementary skills. It is the Trustees' belief that this allows the Board, as a whole, to oversee the business of each Fund in a manner consistent with the best interests of the Fund's shareholders. When considering potential nominees to fill vacancies on the Board, and as part of its annual self-evaluation, the Board reviews the mix of skills and other relevant experiences of the Trustees; qualified candidates will be people of proven character and talent who have achieved notable success in their professional careers. The specific talents that the Nominating Committee of the Board seeks in a candidate depend to a great extent upon the Board's needs at the time a vacancy occurs.

The table above provides the professional experience of each Trustee on an individual basis. This disclosure includes the length of time serving the Funds, other directorships held and their principal occupation during the past five years. Each of the Trustees has spent a significant amount of their professional career working with registered investment companies. For this reason they have become familiar with the regulatory and investment matters that may impact the Funds. This experience contributes to the Trustees' deliberations. In light of the Funds' business and structure, the Board believes the experience of each Trustee is beneficial for overseeing the business of each Fund. Moreover, the Board believes that the different experiences and backgrounds of the Trustees are complementary and enhance the Board's ability to oversee the each Fund's affairs.

*Audit Committee*. The Board has established an Audit Committee, which is comprised entirely of Independent Trustees (Thomas Tays, Chair; Ralph Egizi; and Lawrence Harris). The Audit Committee has a charter. The Audit Committee reviews financial statements and other audit-related matters for the Trust. The Audit Committee also holds discussions with management and with the Independent Accountants concerning the scope of the audit and the auditor's independence. The Audit Committee meets as often as deemed appropriate by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee met four times during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2024.

The Board of Trustees has determined that Thomas Tays is the Trust's Independent Audit Committee Financial Expert, pursuant to Section 407 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and as defined by Item 3 of Form N-CSR of the 1940 Act. In their deliberations, the Board of Trustees considered Mr. Tays' (1) professional experience; (2) independence as defined in Item 3 of Form N-CSR; and (3) integrity and absence of disciplinary history.

*Nominating Committee.* The Trust has a Nominating Committee, which is comprised entirely of Independent Trustees (Ralph Egizi, Chair; and Thomas Tays), which meets as often as deemed appropriate by the Nominating Committee. The Funds do not elect Trustees annually. Each Trustee serves until retirement, resignation, death or removal. Trustees must retire at the end of the calendar year in which they turn 74, with the founding Board members exempted. The Nominating Committee met one time during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2024. The Nominating Committee reviews and nominates persons to serve as members of the Board of Trustees, and reviews and makes recommendations concerning the compensation of the Independent Trustees of the Funds, in addition to presiding over meetings of the committee; (2) participates with the officers and counsel in the preparation of agendas and materials for Board meetings; (3) facilitates communication between the Independent Trustees and management, and among the Independent Trustees; and (4) has such other responsibilities as the Board or Independent Trustees shall determine. The Nominating Committee has a charter. When the Board is seeking a candidate to become a Trustee, it considers qualified candidates received from a variety of sources, including having authority to retain third parties that may receive compensation related to identifying and evaluating candidates. Shareholders may propose nominees by writing to the

Nominating Committee, in care of the Secretary of the Davis Fundamental ETF Trust, at 2949 East Elvira, Suite 101, Tucson, Arizona 85756.

**Brokerage Committee.** The Trust has a Brokerage Committee, which is comprised entirely of Independent Trustees (Ralph Egizi, Chair; and Thomas Tays), which meets as often as deemed appropriate by the Brokerage Committee. The Brokerage Committee met one time during the fiscal year ended October 31, 2024. The Brokerage Committee reviews and makes recommendations concerning the Trust's portfolio brokerage and trading practices.

#### **Risk Oversight**

As a registered investment company, the Funds are subject to a variety of risks, including investment risk, valuation risk, reputational risk, risk of operational failure or lack of business continuity, and legal, compliance and regulatory risk. Risk management seeks to identify and address risks (i.e., events or circumstances that could have material adverse effects on the business, operations, shareholder services, investment performance or reputation of the Funds).

Day-to-day management of the Trust, including risk management, is the responsibility of each Fund's contractual service providers, including each Fund's Adviser, Sub-Adviser, as applicable, the Distributor, Custodian and Transfer Agent. Each of these entities is responsible for specific portions of each Fund's operations, including the processes and associated risks relating to each Fund's investments, integrity of cash movements, financial reporting, operations and compliance. The Board oversees the service providers' discharge of their responsibilities, including the processes they use to manage relevant risks.

As part of its overall activities, the Board reviews the management of each Fund's risk management structure by various departments of the Adviser, including Portfolio Management, Fund Operations, Legal and Internal Audit, as well as by the Trust's Chief Compliance Officer ("CCO"). The responsibility to manage each Fund's risk management structure on a day-today basis is within the Adviser's overall investment management responsibilities. The Adviser has its own, independent interest in risk management.

The Board discharges risk oversight as part of its overall activities, with the assistance of its Audit Committee and CCO. In addressing issues regarding the Trust's risk management between meetings, appropriate representatives of the Adviser communicate with the Chair of the Board or the Trust's CCO, who is accountable and reports directly to the Board. Various personnel, including the Trust's CCO, the Adviser's management, and other service providers (such as the independent accountants) make periodic reports to the Board or to the Audit Committee with respect to various aspects of risk management.

The Board recognizes that not all risks that may affect each Fund can be identified, that it may not be practical or cost-effective to eliminate or mitigate certain risks, that it may be necessary to bear certain risks (such as investment-related risks) to achieve each Fund's investment objectives, and that the processes, procedures and controls employed to address certain risks may be limited in their effectiveness. Moreover, reports received by the Trustees as to risk management matters are typically summaries of the relevant information. As a result of the foregoing and other factors, the Board's risk management oversight is subject to substantial limitations.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in reviewing with the independent auditors, at various times throughout the year, matters relating to the annual audits and financial accounting and reporting matters.

The Trust's CCO assists the Board in overseeing the significant investment policies of the relevant Fund. The CCO monitors these policies. The Board receives and considers the CCO's annual written report, which, among other things, summarizes material compliance issues that arose during the previous year and any remedial action taken to address these issues, as well as any material changes to the compliance programs. The Board also receives and considers reports from the Trust's CCO throughout the year. As part of its oversight responsibilities, the Board has approved various compliance policies and procedures. Each Committee presents reports to the Board that may prompt further discussion of issues concerning the oversight of the Trust's risk management. The Board also may discuss particular risks that are not addressed in the Committee process.

# **Trustees' Fund Holdings**

The information in the table below discloses (1) the dollar ranges of each Trustee's beneficial ownership in each Fund; and (2) each Trustee's aggregate beneficial ownership in all Funds within the Davis Fundamental ETF complex, as of December 31, 2024.

|                      | 0 0              |                  |                  |                  | -                        |
|----------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|--------------------------|
| Independent Trustees | DUSA             | DFNL             | DINT             | DWLD             | <b>Total Invested in</b> |
| •                    |                  |                  |                  |                  | All Funds <sup>(1)</sup> |
| Ralph J. Egizi       | None             | \$1-10,000       | \$1-10,000       | \$1-10,000       | \$1-10,000               |
| Lawrence Harris      | None             | None             | None             | None             | Over \$100,000           |
| Thomas Tays          | \$10,000-50,000  | \$10,000-50,000  | \$10,000-50,000  | \$10,000-50,000  | \$50,001-100,000         |
| Interested Trustee   |                  |                  |                  |                  |                          |
| Kenneth Eich         | \$50,001-100,000 | \$50,001-100,000 | \$50,001-100,000 | \$50,001-100,000 | Over \$100,000           |

Investments are listed in the following ranges: none, \$1-10,000, \$10,001-50,000, \$50,001-100,000 and over \$100,000:

<sup>(1)</sup> Total Invested in All Funds is the aggregate dollar range of investments in all Funds overseen by the individual Trustee and managed by Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.

#### **Independent Trustees' Affiliations and Transactions**

None of the Independent Trustees (or their immediate family members) own any securities issued by the Trust's investment adviser, sub-adviser, principal underwriter or any company (other than a registered investment company) directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with the above listed companies (hereafter, referred to as the "Adviser and its affiliates"). Mr. Eich owns partnership units (directly, indirectly or both) in the Adviser and is considered to be an Interested Trustee.

None of the Independent Trustees (or their immediate family members) have had any direct or indirect interest, the value of which exceeds \$120,000, during the last two calendar years in the Adviser or in the Adviser and its affiliates.

None of the Independent Trustees (or their immediate family members) have had any material interest in any transaction, or series of transactions, during the last two calendar years, in which the amount involved exceeds \$120,000 and to which any of the following persons was a party, including any Davis Fundamental ETF Trust, an officer of the Davis Fundamental ETF Trust, or any fund managed by the Adviser or in the Adviser and its affiliates.

None of the Independent Trustees (or their immediate family members) have had any direct or indirect relationships during the last two calendar years, in which the amount involved exceeds \$120,000 and to which any of the following persons was a party, including any Davis Fundamental ETF Trust, an officer of the Davis Fundamental ETF Trust, or any fund managed by the Adviser or in the Adviser and its affiliates.

None of the officers of the Adviser and its affiliates have served during the last two calendar years on the board of directors/trustees of a company where any Trustee of the Funds (or any of the Trustees' immediate family members) served as an officer.

#### **Certain Shareholders of the Funds**

As of December 31, 2024, Officers and Trustees, as a group, owned the following percentages of shares issued by the Funds<sup>(1)</sup>:

|                                       | <b>Officers and Trustees</b> |
|---------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF          | *                            |
| Davis Select Financial ETF            | *                            |
| Davis Select Worldwide ETF            | *                            |
| <b>Davis Select International ETF</b> | *                            |

(1) This percentage does not include investments controlled indirectly, including holdings by Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.

\* Indicates that Officers and Trustees as a group owned less than 1% of the outstanding shares of the indicated shares.

An Authorized Participant may hold of record more than 25% of the outstanding shares of each Fund. From time to time, Authorized Participants may be a beneficial and/or legal owner of a Fund, may be affiliated with an index provider, may be deemed to have control of a Fund and/or may be able to affect the outcome of matters presented for a vote of the shareholders of a Fund. Authorized Participants may execute an irrevocable proxy granting the Distributor or an affiliate of the Distributor (the "Agent") the power to vote or abstain from voting such Authorized Participant's beneficially or legally owned shares of a Fund. In such cases, the Agent shall mirror vote (or abstain from voting) such shares in the same proportion as all other beneficial owners of the voting Fund.

The following table sets forth as of January 31, 2025, the name and holdings of each person known by Davis Fundamental ETF Trust to be a record owner of more than 5% of the outstanding shares of each Fund. Other than as indicated below, the Funds are not aware of any shareholder who beneficially owns more than 25% of each Fund's total outstanding shares. Shareholders owning a significant percentage of a Fund's shares do not affect the voting rights of other shareholders.

|      | Name of Shareholders Owning<br>More Than 5% of Fund | Percent<br>Outstanding |
|------|---|------------------------|
| DUSA | Morgan Stanley Smith Barney                         | 30.26%                 |
|      | Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.                       | 23.33%                 |
|      | NFS LLC   | 11.22%                 |
|      | Pershing  | 5.39%                  |
| DFNL | Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.                       | 33.54%                 |
|      | Morgan Stanley Smith Barney                         | 18.10%                 |
|      | LPL LLC   | 7.48%                  |
|      | NFS LLC   | 6.44%                  |
|      | Charles Schwab                                      | 5.09%                  |
| DWLD | Morgan Stanley Smith Barney                         | 22.17%                 |
|      | Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.                       | 20.61%                 |
|      | Charles Schwab                                      | 8.28%                  |
|      | Pershing  | 7.80%                  |
|      | NFS LLC   | 7.09%                  |
|      | RBC Capital Markets                                 | 5.68%                  |
|      | Stifel  | 5.45%                  |
|      | R.W. Baird  | 5.22%                  |
| DINT | Davis Selected Advisers, L.P.                       | 41.83%                 |
|      | Raymond James                                       | 12.19%                 |
|      | Charles Schwab                                      | 10.26%                 |
|      | LPL LLC   | 9.37%                  |
|      | Morgan Stanley Smith Barney                         | 9.01%                  |

#### **Investment Advisory Services**

*Davis Selected Advisers, L.P. and Davis Selected Advisers – NY, Inc.* Davis Selected Advisers, L.P. (the "Adviser"), whose principal office is at 2949 East Elvira Road, Suite 101, Tucson, Arizona 85756, serves as investment adviser for each Fund. The Adviser is also responsible for managing each Fund's business affairs and providing day-to-day administrative services to the Funds. The Adviser also provides advisory or sub-advisory services to other parties including other registered investment companies, private accounts, offshore funds and managed money/wrap accounts. Davis Investments, LLC, an entity controlled by Christopher Davis, is the Adviser's sole general partner. Mr. Davis is Chairman of the Adviser and, as the sole member of the general partner, controls the Adviser. Davis Selected Advisers – NY, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Adviser, serves as sub-adviser to and performs investment management, research and other services for the Davis Fundamental ETF Trust on behalf of the Adviser, under the agreement with the Adviser. All fees paid to the Sub-Adviser are paid by the Adviser.

*Advisory Agreement with Davis Selected Advisers, L.P. and Sub-Advisory Agreement with Davis Selected Advisers – NY, Inc.* Pursuant to an Advisory Agreement, each Fund pays the Adviser a fee at the annual rate of 0.55% of average net assets.

<u>Expense Cap</u>. The Adviser is contractually committed to waive fees and/or reimburse each Fund's expenses to the extent necessary to cap total annual fund operating expenses at 0.65% for Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF, Davis Select Financial ETF, and Davis Select Worldwide ETF and at 0.75% for Davis Select International ETF until March 1, 2026. After that date, there is no assurance that the Adviser will continue to cap expenses.

The aggregate fees paid to the Adviser during the last three fiscal years are show below.

|                                | 2024        | 2023        | 2022        |
|--------------------------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|
| Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF   | \$2,611,995 | \$1,894,524 | \$1,923,826 |
| Davis Select International ETF | \$940,942   | \$847,327   | \$913,948   |
| Davis Select Worldwide ETF     | \$1,624,231 | \$1,377,607 | \$1,627,829 |
| Davis Select Financial ETF     | \$1,056,444 | \$922,870   | \$1,052,490 |
| 1 (* 1 1 1 1                   | 1 1 .1      |             |             |

For the fiscal year end periods shown below, the Adviser reimbursed the following amounts:

|                                       | 2024     | 2023 | 2022 |
|---------------------------------------|----------|------|------|
| Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF          | \$0      | \$0  | \$0  |
| <b>Davis Select International ETF</b> | \$66,127 | \$0  | \$0  |
| Davis Select Worldwide ETF            | \$0      | \$0  | \$0  |
| <b>Davis Select Financial ETF</b>     | \$0      | \$0  | \$0  |

In accordance with the provisions of the 1940 Act, the Advisory Agreement and Sub-Advisory Agreement will terminate automatically on assignment and are subject to cancellation on 60-days' written notice by the Board of Trustees, the vote of the holders of a majority of the Funds' outstanding shares or the Adviser. The continuance of the Advisory Agreement and Sub-Advisory Agreement must be approved at least annually by the Funds' Board of Trustees or by the vote of holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Funds. In addition, any new agreement, or the continuation of the existing agreement, must be approved by a majority of Trustees who are not parties to the agreements or interested persons of any such party. The Advisory Agreement also makes provisions for portfolio transactions and brokerage policies of the Funds, which are discussed above under "Portfolio Transactions."

The Sub-Adviser performs research and other services on behalf of the Adviser. The Adviser pays all of the Sub-Adviser's direct and indirect costs of operation. All fees paid to the Sub-Adviser are paid by the Adviser and not the Funds.

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Adviser, subject to the general supervision of the Funds' Board of Trustees, provides management and investment advice and furnishes statistical, executive and clerical personnel, bookkeeping, office space and equipment necessary to carry out its investment advisory functions and such corporate managerial duties as requested by the Board of Trustees of the Funds. The Funds bear all expenses other than those specifically assumed by the Adviser under the Advisory Agreement, including preparation of its tax returns, financial reports to regulatory authorities, dividend determinations, transactions and accounting matters related to its custodian bank, transfer agency, custodial and investor services, and qualification of its shares under federal and state securities laws.

*Approval of the Advisory and Sub-Advisory Agreements.* The Board of Trustees is scheduled to meet four times a year. The Trustees believe that matters bearing on the Advisory and Sub-Advisory Agreements are considered at most, if not all, of their meetings. The Independent Trustees are advised by independent legal counsel selected by the Independent Trustees. A discussion of the Trustees' considerations in the annual approval of Advisory and Sub-Advisory Agreements is included in the Funds' next annual or semi-annual report following the annual approval.

**Unique Nature of Each Fund.** The Adviser may serve as the investment adviser or sub-adviser to other funds that have investment objectives and principal investment strategies similar to those of the Funds. While the Trust's portfolios may have many similarities to these other funds, the investment performance of each fund will be different due to a number of differences between the funds, including differences in expense ratios and cash flows.

*Code of Ethics.* The Adviser, Sub-Adviser, Distributor and the Trust have adopted a Code of Ethics, meeting the requirements of Rule 17j-1 under the 1940 Act that regulate the personal securities transactions of the Adviser's investment personnel, other employees and affiliates with access to information regarding securities transactions of the Funds. Such employees may invest in securities, including securities that may be purchased or held by the Funds. A copy of the Code of Ethics is on public file with, and available from, the SEC.

*Continuing Regulation.* The Adviser, like most other asset managers, is subject to ongoing inquiries from the SEC and/or the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA") regarding industry practices.

**Proxy Voting Policies and Record.** The Board of Trustees has directed the Adviser to vote each Fund's portfolio securities in conformance with the Adviser's Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures. These policies and procedures are summarized in *Appendix B*. Information regarding how the Funds voted proxies relating to portfolio securities during the most recent 12-month period ended June 30 is available on the Funds' website, **www.davisetfs.com**, without charge, by calling Davis Fundamental ETF Trust's Investor Services at **1-800-279-0279** or on the SEC's website, **www.sec.gov**.

#### **Portfolio Managers**

*Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF.* The Portfolio Managers of Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF are Christopher Davis and Danton Goei. They are the persons primarily responsible for investing the Fund's assets on a daily basis.

*Davis Select Financial ETF.* The Portfolio Managers of Davis Select Financial ETF are Christopher Davis and Pierce Crosbie. They are the persons primarily responsible for investing the Fund's assets on a daily basis.

*Davis Select Worldwide ETF & Davis Select International ETF.* The Portfolio Manager of Davis Select Worldwide ETF and Davis Select International ETF is Danton Goei. Mr. Goei is the person primarily responsible for investing the Funds' assets on a daily basis.

#### Accounts Managed as of October 31, 2024

| Portfolio Managers | Number of RICs <sup>(1)</sup> | Assets <sup>(2)</sup> in<br>RICs in<br>millions | Number of<br>OPIV <sup>(3)</sup> | Assets in<br>OPIV in<br>millions | Number of<br>OA <sup>(4)</sup> | Assets in<br>OA in<br>millions |
|--------------------|-------------------------------|---|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| DUSA               |                               |   |                                  |                                  |                                |                                |
| Christopher Davis  | 10                            | \$11,842.6                                      | 2                                | \$459.6                          | 34                             | \$9,117.7                      |
| Danton Goei        | 10                            | \$11,493.1                                      | 4                                | \$692.9                          | 32                             | \$8,748.7                      |
| DFNL               |                               |   |                                  |                                  |                                |                                |
| Christopher Davis  | 10                            | \$12,161.0                                      | 2                                | \$459.6                          | 34                             | \$9,117.7                      |
| Pierce Crosbie     | 3                             | \$1,045.6                                       | 0                                | \$0                              | 3                              | \$710.5                        |
| DWLD               |                               |   |                                  |                                  |                                |                                |
| Danton Goei        | 10                            | \$11,693.1                                      | 4                                | \$692.9                          | 32                             | \$8,748.7                      |
| DINT               |                               |   |                                  |                                  |                                |                                |
| Danton Goei        | 10                            | \$11,830.1                                      | 4                                | \$692.9                          | 32                             | \$8,748.7                      |

<sup>(1)</sup> "RIC" means Registered Investment Company.

(2) "Assets" means total assets managed by the Portfolio Manager. Some or all of these assets may be co-managed with another Portfolio Manager who will also be credited with managing the same assets. The sum of assets managed by Davis Advisors' Portfolio Managers may exceed the total assets managed by Davis Advisors.

<sup>(3)</sup> "OPIV" means Other Pooled Investment Vehicles.

(4) "OA" means Other Accounts. These accounts are primarily private accounts and sponsors of managed money/wrap accounts.

#### Dollar range of fund shares owned as of October 31, 2024

| Portfolio Managers |                     |
|--------------------|---------------------|
| DUSA               |                     |
| Christopher Davis  | \$100,001-\$500,000 |
| Danton Goei        | \$100,001-\$500,000 |
| DFNL               |                     |
| Christopher Davis  | Over \$1 million.   |
| Pierce Crosbie     | \$100,001-\$500,000 |
| DINT               |                     |
| Danton Goei        | Over \$1 million.   |
| DWLD               |                     |
| Danton Goei        | Over \$1 million.   |

Ownership disclosure is made using the following ranges: None; \$1-\$10,000; \$10,001-\$50,000; \$50,001-\$100,000; \$100,001-\$500,000; \$500,001-\$1 million; Over \$1 million.

#### Structure of Compensation

*Christopher Davis*' compensation for services provided to the Adviser consists of a base salary. The Adviser's Portfolio Managers are provided benefits packages including life insurance, health insurance and participation in the Adviser's 401(k) plan comparable to that received by other company employees.

**Danton Goei's and Pierce Crosbie's** compensation for services provided to the Adviser consists of: (1) a base salary; (2) an annual discretionary bonus; (3) awards of equity ("Units") in Davis Selected Advisers, L.P., including Units and/or phantom Units; (4) an incentive plan whereby the Adviser purchases shares in certain mutual funds managed by the Adviser, which vest based on the passage of time provided that the Portfolio Manager is still employed by the Adviser; and (5) an incentive plan whereby the Adviser purchases shares in selected mutual funds managed by the Adviser; and (5) an incentive plan whereby the Adviser purchases shares in selected mutual funds managed by the Adviser. In the case of fund shares purchased as described above in (5), at the end of specified periods, generally five-years following the date of purchase, some, all or none of the Fund shares will be registered in the employee's name based on fund performance, after expenses on a pre-tax basis, versus the Fund's benchmark index, as described in the Fund's prospectus or, in limited cases, based on performance ranking among established peer groups. The Adviser does not purchase incentive shares in every fund these Portfolio Managers manage or assist on. In limited cases, such incentive compensation is tied on a memorandum basis to the performance of the portion of the Fund ("sleeve") managed by the analyst versus the Fund's benchmark. The Adviser's Portfolio Managers are provided benefits packages, including life insurance, health insurance and participation in the Adviser's 401(k) plan comparable to that received by other company employees.

#### **Potential Conflicts of Interest**

Potential conflicts of interest may arise in connection with the management of multiple accounts, including potential conflicts of interest related to the knowledge and timing of the Funds' trades, investment opportunities, broker selection and Fund investments. Portfolio Managers and other investment professionals may be privy to the size, timing and possible market impact of a Fund's trades. It is theoretically possible that Portfolio Managers could use this information to the advantage of other accounts they manage and to the possible detriment of a Fund. It is possible that an investment opportunity may be suitable for both a Fund and other accounts managed by Portfolio Managers, but may not be available in sufficient quantities for both the Fund and the other accounts to participate fully. Similarly, there may be limited opportunity to sell an investment held by a Fund and another account. Management of multiple portfolios and/or other accounts may result in a Portfolio Manager devoting

unequal time and attention to the management of each portfolio and/or other account. The Adviser seeks to manage such competing interests for the time and attention of Portfolio Managers. For example, many of Davis Advisors' Portfolio Managers focus on a small set of model accounts, with similar accounts being managed by investing in the same securities and using the same investment weightings that are used in connection with the management of the model accounts.

If a Portfolio Manager identifies a limited investment opportunity that may be suitable for more than one portfolio or other account, a portfolio may not be able to take full advantage of that opportunity due to an allocation of filled purchase or sale orders across all eligible portfolios and other accounts. Large clients may generate more revenue for the Adviser than do smaller accounts. Accounts that pay higher management fees usually generate more revenue than accounts of the same size paying lower management fees. A Portfolio Manager may be faced with a conflict of interest when allocating limited investment opportunities given the benefit to the Adviser of favoring accounts that pay a higher fee or generate more income for the Adviser. To deal with these situations, the Adviser has adopted procedures for allocating limited investment opportunities across multiple accounts.

With respect to securities transactions for the portfolios, the Adviser determines which broker to use to execute each order, consistent with its duty to seek best execution of the transaction. However, with respect to certain other accounts (such as mutual funds, other pooled investment vehicles that are not registered mutual funds and other accounts managed for organizations and individuals), the Adviser may be limited by the client with respect to the selection of brokers or may be instructed to direct trades through a particular broker. In these cases, the Adviser may place separate, non-simultaneous, transactions for a portfolio and another account that may temporarily affect the market price of the security or the execution of the transaction, or both, to the detriment of the portfolio or the other account.

Substantial investment of the Adviser or Davis Family assets in certain mutual funds may lead to conflicts of interest. A portion of a Portfolio Manager's compensation may include awards of equity in Davis Advisors. A Portfolio Manager may face a conflict of interest given that the Adviser is more heavily invested in some funds than in other funds. A portion of the Portfolio Manager's compensation may also include an incentive plan whereby the Adviser purchases shares in certain funds managed by Davis Advisors. A Portfolio Manager may face a conflict of interest given that their long-term compensation may be more heavily determined by the performance of one fund, or portion of a fund, than by another fund that he also manages. To mitigate these potential conflicts of interest, the Adviser has adopted policies and procedures intended to ensure that all clients are treated fairly over time. Davis Advisors does not receive an incentive based fee on any account.

Davis Advisors expects that, over long periods of time, most clients pursuing similar investment strategies should experience similar, but not identical, investment performance. Many factors affect investment performance, including, but not limited to: (1) the timing of cash deposits and withdrawals to and from an account; (2) the possibility that Davis Advisors may not purchase or sell a given security on behalf of all clients pursuing similar strategies; (3) price and timing differences when buying or selling securities; and (4) clients pursuing similar investment strategies but imposing different investment restrictions. Davis Advisors has adopted written trading policies designed to minimize possible conflicts of interest in trading for its clients.

Conflicts of interest may also arise regarding proxy voting. Davis Advisors has adopted written proxy voting policies designed to minimize possible conflicts of interest when voting proxies on behalf of its clients.

Certain Portfolio Managers may serve on the board(s) of public companies where they, from time to time, may have access to material, non-public information ("MNPI"). Davis Advisors has instituted policies and procedures to ensure that these Portfolio Managers will not be able to utilize MNPI for their own benefit or for any of the accounts they manage.

# **Disclosure of Portfolio Holdings**

**Portfolio Holdings Information is Protected.** Information about each Fund's portfolio holdings is proprietary information that the Adviser is committed to protecting. Each Fund has adopted procedures reasonably designed to ensure that portfolio holdings information is not released on a selective basis, except to qualified persons rendering services to the Fund that require that those persons receive information concerning the Fund's portfolio holdings. Neither the Funds nor the Adviser receives compensation with respect to the disclosure of portfolio holdings.

**Public Disclosure of Portfolio Holdings.** The Trust has adopted a policy regarding the disclosure of information about the Trust's portfolio holdings. The Board must approve all material amendments to this policy. Each Fund's portfolio holdings are publicly disseminated each day the Funds are open for business through financial reporting and news services, including publicly accessible Internet web sites. In addition, a basket composition file, which includes the security names and share quantities to deliver in exchange for shares, together with estimates and actual cash components, is publicly disseminated daily prior to the opening of the Exchange via the National Securities Clearing Corporation ("NSCC"). The basket represents one Creation Unit of a Fund. The Trust, the Adviser, the Distributor and the Administrator will not disseminate non-public information concerning the Trust, except information may be made available prior to its public availability: (1) to a party for a legitimate business purpose related to the day-to-day operations of the Fund, including (a) a service provider, (b) the stock exchanges upon which the ETF is listed, (c) the NSCC, (d) the Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), and (e) financial data/research companies such as Morningstar, Bloomberg L.P. and Reuters; or (2) to any other party for a legitimate business or regulatory purpose, upon waiver or exception, with the consent of an applicable Trust officer.

# **Book Entry Only System**

The following information supplements, and should be read in conjunction with, the section in the Funds' prospectus titled *"Buying and Selling Shares."* 

DTC acts as securities depositary for the shares. Shares of each Fund are represented by securities registered in the name of DTC or its nominee and deposited with, or on behalf of, DTC. Except in the limited circumstance provided below, certificates will not be issued for shares.

DTC, a limited-purpose trust company, was created to hold securities of its participants (the "DTC Participants") and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among the DTC Participants in such securities through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of the DTC Participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. DTC Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations, some of whom (and/or their representatives) own DTC. More specifically, DTC is owned by a number of its DTC Participants and by the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") and FINRA. Access to the DTC system is also available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a DTC Participant, either directly or indirectly (the "Indirect Participants").

Beneficial ownership of shares is limited to DTC Participants, Indirect Participants and persons holding interests through DTC Participants and Indirect Participants. Ownership of beneficial interests in shares (owners of such beneficial interests are referred to herein as "Beneficial Owners") is shown on, and the transfer of ownership is effected only through, records maintained by DTC (with respect to DTC Participants) and on the records of DTC Participants (with respect to Indirect Participants and Beneficial Owners that are not DTC Participants). Beneficial Owners will receive from or through the DTC Participant a written confirmation relating to their purchase of shares.

Conveyance of all notices, statements and other communications to Beneficial Owners is affected as follows. Pursuant to the Depositary Agreement between the Trust and DTC, DTC is required to make available to the Trust, upon request and for a fee to be charged to the Trust, a listing of the shares of each Fund held by each DTC Participant. The Trust, either directly or through a third-party service, shall inquire of each such DTC Participant as to the number of Beneficial Owners holding shares, directly or indirectly, through such DTC Participant. The Trust, either directly or through a third-party service, shall provide each such DTC Participant as to the number of Beneficial Owners holding shares, directly or indirectly, through such DTC Participant. The Trust, either directly or through a third-party service, shall provide each such DTC Participant with copies of such notice, statement or other communication, in such form, number and at such place as such DTC Participant may reasonably request, in order that such notice, statement or communication may be transmitted by such DTC Participant, directly or indirectly, to such Beneficial Owners. In addition, the Trust shall pay to each such DTC Participant and/or third party service a fair and reasonable amount as reimbursement for the expenses attendant to such transmittal, all subject to applicable statutory and regulatory requirements.

Share distributions shall be made to DTC or its nominee as the registered holder of all shares. DTC or its nominee, upon receipt of any such distributions, shall credit immediately DTC Participants' accounts with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in shares of each Fund as shown on the records of DTC or its nominee. Payments by DTC Participants to Indirect Participants and Beneficial Owners of Shares held through such DTC Participants will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is now the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in a "street name," and will be the responsibility of such DTC Participants.

The Trust has no responsibility or liability for any aspects of the records relating to or notices to Beneficial Owners, or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in such shares, or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests or for any other aspect of the relationship between DTC and the DTC Participants or the relationship between such DTC Participants and the Indirect Participants and Beneficial Owners owning through such DTC Participants. DTC may determine to discontinue providing its service with respect to shares at any time by giving reasonable notice to the Trust and discharging its responsibilities with respect thereto under applicable law. Under such circumstances, the Trust shall take action either to find a replacement for DTC to perform its functions at a comparable cost or, if such a replacement is unavailable, to issue and deliver printed certificates representing ownership of shares, unless the Trust makes other arrangements with respect thereto satisfactory to the Exchange.

# **Other Important Service Providers**

*The Distributor.* Foreside Fund Services, LLC, 3 Canal Plaza, Suite 100, Portland, Maine 04101, serves as the Distributor for the Funds' shares pursuant to a Distribution Agreement dated October 5, 2016 (the "Distribution Agreement").

Pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, each Fund appointed the Distributor to be its agent for the distribution of the Fund's shares on a continuous offering basis. Shares will be continuously offered for sale by the Trust through the Distributor only in Creation Units, as described in the prospectus and below under "*Purchase and Redemption of Creation Units*." Shares in less than Creation Units are not distributed by the Distributor. The Distributor will deliver the prospectus to persons purchasing Creation Units and will maintain records of both orders placed with it and confirmations of acceptance furnished by it. The Distributor is a broker-dealer registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") and a member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA"). The Distributor has no role in determining the investment policies of the

Trust or which securities are to be purchased or sold by the Trust. The Distributor may assist Authorized Participants in assembling shares to purchase Creation Units or upon redemption, for which it may receive commissions or other fees from such Authorized Participants.

The Adviser and/or its affiliates may make payments to broker-dealers, registered investment advisers, banks or other intermediaries (together, "intermediaries") related to marketing activities and presentations, educational training programs, conferences, the development of technology platforms and reporting systems, or their making shares of the Funds available to their customers generally and in certain investment programs. Such payments, which may be significant to the intermediary, are not made by the Funds. Rather, such payments are made by the Adviser and/or its affiliates from their own resources, which come directly or indirectly in part from fees paid by each Fund. Payments of this type are sometimes referred to as revenue-sharing payments. A financial intermediary may make decisions about which investment options it recommends or makes available, or the level of services provided, to its customers based on the payments it is eligible to receive. Therefore, such payments to an intermediary create conflicts of interest between the intermediary and its customers and may cause the intermediary to recommend a Fund over another investment.

*Custodian.* State Street Bank and Trust Company ("State Street" or the "Custodian"), One Congress Street, Suite 1, Boston, MA 02114-2016, serves as custodian of the Funds' assets. The Custodian maintains all of the instruments representing each Fund's investments and all cash.

Transfer Agent. State Street also serves as each Funds' transfer agent.

*Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.* KPMG LLP ("KPMG"), 191 W Nationwide Blvd., Suite 500, Columbus, OH 43215, serves as each Fund's independent registered public accounting firm. KPMG audits each Fund's financial statements and financial highlights, performs other related audit services, and meets with the Audit Committee of the Board of Trustees.

KPMG also acts as the independent registered public accounting firm to certain other funds advised by the Adviser. In addition, KPMG prepares each Fund's federal and state income tax returns and related forms. Audit and non-audit services provided by KPMG to each Fund must be pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

*Counsel.* Greenberg Traurig, LLP, 1144 15<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 3300, Denver, CO 80202, serves as counsel to each Fund and also serves as counsel for the Independent Trustees.

# SECTION III: PURCHASE AND REDEMPTION OF CREATION UNITS

This SAI should be read in conjunction with the Fund's prospectus. This SAI supplements the information available in the Funds' prospectus.

Each Fund issues and redeems its shares on a continuous basis, at NAV, only in a large specified number of shares called a "Creation Unit," either principally in-kind for securities included in a Fund or in cash for the value of such securities. The value of each Fund is determined once each business day, as described under the "*Valuation of Portfolio Securities*" section in the Funds' prospectus. The Creation Unit size for a Fund may change. Authorized Participants will be notified of such change. The principal consideration for creations and redemptions for a Fund is set forth in the table below:

|                                       | Creation* | <b>Redemption*</b> |
|---------------------------------------|-----------|--------------------|
| Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF          | In-Kind   | In-Kind            |
| <b>Davis Select Financial ETF</b>     | In-Kind   | In-Kind            |
| <b>Davis Select International ETF</b> | In-Kind   | In-Kind            |
| <b>Davis Select Worldwide ETF</b>     | In-Kind   | In-Kind            |

\* May be revised at any time without notice

**Purchase (Creation).** The Trust issues and sells shares of each Fund only in Creation Units on a continuous basis through the Distributor, without a sales load (but subject to transaction fees), at their NAV per share next determined after receipt of an order, on any Business Day (as defined below), in proper form pursuant to the terms of the Authorized Participant Agreement ("Participant Agreement"). A "Business Day" with respect to a Fund is, generally, any day on which the NYSE is open for business. In some instances a Fund may accept an order to purchase shares on the next Business Day (a "T-1 Order"). A T-1 Order must be submitted in proper form to the Transfer Agent on the prior Business Day in the manner set forth in the Participant Agreement and/or order form. The order cut off time is subject to change. An Authorized Participant should consult with the Distributor.

*Fund Deposit.* The consideration for purchase of a Creation Unit of a Fund generally consists of either (1) the in-kind deposit of a designated portfolio of securities (the "Deposit Securities") per each Creation Unit, generally constituting a substantial replication, or a portfolio sampling representation, of the securities included in a Fund and the Cash Component (defined below), computed as described below; or (2) the cash value of the Deposit Securities ("Deposit Cash") and "Cash Component," computed as described below. While the Deposit Securities will generally represent a pro-rata replication of the portfolio the Fund also reserves the right to require a custom basket of securities. When accepting purchases of Creation Units for cash, a Fund may incur additional costs associated with the acquisition of Deposit Securities that would otherwise be provided by an in-kind purchaser.

Together, the Deposit Securities or Deposit Cash, as applicable, and the Cash Component constitute the "Fund Deposit," which represents the minimum initial and subsequent investment amount for a Creation Unit of a Fund. The "Cash Component," which may include a Dividend Equivalent Payment, is an amount equal to the difference between the NAV of the shares (per Creation Unit) and the value of the Deposit Securities or Deposit Cash, as applicable. The "Dividend Equivalent Payment" enables a Fund to make a complete distribution of dividends on the day preceding the next dividend payment date, and is an amount equal, on a per Creation Unit basis, to the dividends on all the portfolio securities of a Fund ("Dividend Securities") with ex-dividend dates within the accumulation period for such distribution (the "Accumulation Period"), net of expenses and liabilities for such period, as if all of the Dividend Securities had been held by the Fund for the entire Accumulation Period. The Accumulation Period begins on the ex-dividend date for the Fund and ends on the day preceding the next ex-dividend date. If the Cash Component is a positive number (i.e., the NAV per Creation Unit exceeds the value of the Deposit Securities or Deposit Cash, as applicable), the Cash Component shall be such positive amount. If the Cash Component is a negative number (i.e., the NAV per Creation Unit is less than the value of the Deposit Securities or Deposit Cash, as applicable), the Cash Component shall be such negative amount and the creator will be entitled to receive cash in an amount equal to the Cash Component. The Cash Component serves the function of compensating for any differences between the NAV per Creation Unit and the value of the Deposit Securities or Deposit Cash, as applicable. Computation of the Cash Component excludes any stamp duty or other similar fees and expenses payable upon transfer of beneficial ownership of the Deposit Securities, if applicable, which shall be the sole responsibility of the Authorized Participant.

The Custodian, through NSCC, makes available on each Business Day, immediately prior to the opening of business on the NYSE (currently 9:30 a.m., Eastern time), the list of the names and the required number of shares of each Deposit Security or the required amount of Deposit Cash, as applicable, to be included in the current Fund Deposit (based on information at the end of the previous Business Day) for the Fund. Such Fund Deposit is subject to any applicable adjustments as described below, in order to effect purchases of Creation Units of the Fund until such time as the next-announced composition of the Deposit Securities or the required amount of Deposit Cash, as applicable, is made available.

The identity and number of shares of the Deposit Securities or the amount of Deposit Cash, as applicable, required for a Fund Deposit for a Fund changes, as rebalancing adjustments, interest payments and corporate action events are reflected from time to time by the Adviser with a view to the investment objective of a Fund. Information regarding a Fund Deposit necessary for the purchase of a Creation Unit is made available to Authorized Participants and other market participants seeking to transact in Creation Unit aggregations. The composition of the Deposit Securities may also change in response to adjustments to the weighting or composition of the component securities of a Fund.

As noted above, the Trust reserves the right to permit or require the substitution of Deposit Cash to replace any Deposit Security, which shall be added to the Cash Component, including, without limitation, in situations where the Deposit Security (1) may not be available in sufficient quantity for delivery; (2) may not be eligible for transfer through the systems of DTC for corporate securities and municipal securities or the Federal Reserve System for U.S. Treasury securities; (3) may not be eligible for trading by an Authorized Participant or the investor for which it is acting; (4) would be restricted under the securities laws or where the delivery of the Deposit Security to the Authorized Participant would result in the disposition of the Deposit Security by the Authorized Participant becoming restricted under the securities laws; or (5) in certain other situations (collectively, "non-standard orders"). The Trust also reserves the right to (1) permit or require the substitution of Deposit Securities in lieu of Deposit Cash; and (2) include or remove Deposit Securities from the basket, such as for efficient tax management of the portfolio ("custom orders"). The adjustments described above will also reflect changes, known to the Adviser on the date of announcement to be in effect by the time of delivery of the Fund Deposit, resulting from certain corporate actions.

**Procedures for Purchase of Creation Units.** To be eligible to place orders with the Distributor, as facilitated via the Transfer Agent, to purchase a Creation Unit of a Fund, an entity must be (1) a "Participating Party" (i.e., a broker-dealer or other participant in the clearing process through the Continuous Net Settlement System of the NSCC)(the "Clearing Process"), a clearing agency that is registered with the SEC; or (2) a DTC Participant (see "Book Entry Only System"). In addition, each Participating Party or DTC Participant (each an "Authorized Participant") must execute a Participant Agreement that has been agreed to by the Distributor and the Transfer Agent, and that has been accepted by the Trust, with respect to purchases and redemptions of Creation Units. Each Authorized Participant will agree, pursuant to the terms of a Participant Agreement, on behalf of itself or any investor on whose behalf it will act, to certain conditions, including that it will pay to the Trust, an amount of cash sufficient to pay the Cash Component together with the creation transaction fee (described below) and any other applicable fees, taxes and additional variable charge.

All orders to purchase shares directly from a Fund, including non-standard orders, must be placed for one or more Creation Units and in the manner and by the time set forth in the Participant Agreement and/or the applicable order form. Except in the case of a T-1 Order, the date on which an order to purchase Creation Units (or an order to redeem Creation Units, as set forth below) is received and accepted is referred to as the "Order Placement Date."

An Authorized Participant may require an investor to make certain representations or enter into agreements with respect to the order (e.g., to provide for payments of cash, when required). Investors should be aware that their particular broker may not have executed a Participant Agreement and that, therefore, orders to purchase shares directly from a Fund in Creation Units have to be placed by the investor's broker through an Authorized Participant that has executed a Participant Agreement. In such cases, there may be additional charges to such investor. At any given time, there may be only a limited number of broker-dealers that have executed a Participant Agreement and only a small number of such Authorized Participants may have international capabilities.

On days when the Exchange closes earlier than normal, a Fund may require orders to create Creation Units to be placed earlier in the day. In addition, if a market or markets on which a Fund's investments are primarily traded is closed, a Fund will also generally not accept orders on such day(s). Orders must be transmitted by an Authorized Participant by telephone or other transmission method acceptable to the Distributor pursuant to procedures set forth in the Participant Agreement and in accordance with the applicable order form. Those placing orders through an Authorized Participant should allow sufficient time to permit proper submission of the purchase order by the cut-off time on such Business Day. Economic or market disruptions or changes, or telephone or other communication failure may impede the ability to reach the Distributor or an Authorized Participant.

Fund Deposits must be delivered by an Authorized Participant through the Federal Reserve System (for cash and U.S. Government securities), or through DTC (for corporate securities and municipal securities), through a sub-custody agent (for foreign securities) and/or through such other arrangements allowed by the Trust or its agents. With respect to foreign Deposit Securities, the Custodian shall cause the sub-custodian of a Fund to maintain an account into which the Authorized Participant shall deliver, on behalf of itself or the party on whose behalf it is acting, such Deposit Securities. Foreign Deposit

Securities must be delivered to an account maintained at the applicable local sub-custodian. The Fund Deposit transfer must be ordered by the Authorized Participant in a timely fashion so as to ensure the delivery of the requisite number of Deposit Securities or Deposit Cash, as applicable, to the account of a Fund or its agents by no later than the Settlement Date. The "Settlement Date" for a Fund is generally the third Business Day after the Order Placement Date. All questions as to the number of Deposit Securities or Deposit Cash to be delivered, as applicable, and the validity, form and eligibility (including time of receipt) for the deposit of any tendered securities or cash, as applicable, will be determined by the Trust, whose determination

shall be final and binding. The amount of cash represented by the Cash Component must be transferred directly to the Custodian through the Federal Reserve Bank wire transfer system in a timely manner so as to be received by the Custodian no later than the Settlement Date. If the Cash Component and the Deposit Securities or Deposit Cash, as applicable, are not received in a timely manner by the Settlement Date, the creation order may be cancelled. Upon written notice to the Distributor, such canceled order may be resubmitted the following Business Day using a Fund Deposit as newly constituted to reflect the then current NAV of a Fund. The delivery of Creation Units so created generally will occur no later than the third Business Day following the day on which the purchase order is deemed received by the Distributor.

The order shall be deemed to be received on the Business Day on which the order is placed (except in the case of a T-1 Order as described herein), provided that the order is placed in proper form prior to the applicable cut-off time and the federal funds in the appropriate amount are deposited by 2:00 p.m. or 3:00 p.m. Eastern time (per applicable instructions) with the Custodian on the Settlement Date. If the order is not placed in proper form as required, or federal funds in the appropriate amount are not received by 2:00 p.m. or 3:00 p.m. Eastern time (per applicable instructions) on the Settlement Date, then the order may be deemed to be rejected and the Authorized Participant shall be liable to the Fund for losses, if any, resulting therefrom. A creation request is considered to be in "proper form" if all procedures set forth in the Participant Agreement, order form and this SAI are properly followed.

*Issuance of a Creation Unit.* Except as provided herein, Creation Units will not be issued until the transfer of good title to the Trust of the Deposit Securities or payment of Deposit Cash, as applicable, and the payment of the Cash Component have been completed. When the sub-custodian has confirmed to the Custodian that the required Deposit Securities (or the cash value thereof) have been delivered to the account of the relevant sub-custodian(s), the Distributor and the Adviser shall be notified of such delivery, and the Trust will issue and cause the delivery of the Creation Units.

In instances where the Trust accepts Deposit Securities for the purchase of a Creation Unit, the Creation Unit may be purchased in advance of receipt by the Trust of all or a portion of the applicable Deposit Securities, as described below. In these circumstances, the initial deposit will have a value greater than the NAV of the shares on the date the order is placed in proper form, since in addition to available Deposit Securities, cash must be deposited in an amount equal to the sum of (1) the Cash Component, plus (2) an additional amount of cash equal to a percentage of the value, as set forth in the Participant Agreement, of the undelivered Deposit Securities (the "Additional Cash Deposit"), which shall be maintained in a general non-interest bearing collateral account. An additional amount of cash shall be required to be deposited with the Trust, pending delivery of the missing Deposit Securities to the extent necessary to maintain the Additional Cash Deposit with the Trust in an amount at least equal to the applicable percentage, as set forth in the Participant Agreement, of the daily marked to value of the missing Deposit Securities. The Trust may use such Additional Cash Deposit to buy the missing Deposit Securities at any time. Authorized Participants will be liable to the Trust for all costs, expenses, dividends, income and taxes associated with missing Deposit Securities, including the costs incurred by the Trust in connection with any such purchases. These costs will be deemed to include the amount by which the actual purchase price of the Deposit Securities exceeds the value of such Deposit Securities on the day the purchase order was deemed received by the Distributor plus the brokerage and related transaction costs associated with such purchases. The Trust will return any unused portion of the Additional Cash Deposit once all of the missing Deposit Securities have been properly received by the Custodian, or purchased by the Trust, and deposited into the Trust. In addition, a transaction fee, as set forth below under "Creation Transaction Fees" will be charged in all cases and an additional variable charge may also be applied. The delivery of Creation Units so created generally will occur no later than the Settlement Date.

Acceptance of Orders of Creation Units. The Trust reserves the right to reject an order for Creation Units transmitted in respect of a Fund at its discretion, including, without limitation, if (1) the order is not in proper form; (2) the Deposit Securities or Deposit Cash, as applicable, delivered by the Participant are not as disseminated through the facilities of the NSCC for that date by the Custodian; (3) the investor(s), upon obtaining the shares ordered, would own 80% or more of the currently outstanding shares of a Fund; (4) the acceptance of the Fund Deposit would, in the opinion of counsel, be unlawful; (5) the acceptance or receipt of the order for a Creation Unit would, in the opinion of counsel to the Trust, be unlawful; or (6) in the event that circumstances outside the control of the Trust, the Custodian, the Transfer Agent and/or the Adviser make it for all practical purposes not feasible to process orders for Creation Units. Examples of such circumstances include: (1) acts of God or public service or utility problems such as fires, floods, extreme weather conditions and power outages resulting in telephone, telecopy and computer failures; (2) market conditions or activities causing trading halts; (3) systems failures involving computer or other information systems affecting the Trust, the Distributor, the Custodian, the Transfer Agent, DTC, NSCC, Federal Reserve System or any other participant in the creation process; and (4) other extraordinary events. The Trust or its agents shall communicate to the Authorized Participant its rejection of an order. The Trust, the Transfer Agent, the Custodian and the Distributor are under no duty, however, to give notification of any defects or irregularities in the delivery of Fund Deposits nor shall either of them incur any liability for the failure to give any such notification. The Trust, the Transfer Agent, the Custodian and the Distributor shall not be liable for the rejection of any purchase order for Creation Units. All questions as to the number of shares of each security in the Deposit Securities and the validity, form, eligibility and acceptance for deposit of any securities to be delivered shall be determined by the Trust and the Trust's determination shall be final and binding.

*Redemption.* Shares may be redeemed only in Creation Units at their NAV next determined after receipt of a redemption request in proper form by a Fund through the Transfer Agent and only on a Business Day. EXCEPT UPON LIQUIDATION OF A

FUND, THE TRUST WILL NOT REDEEM SHARES IN AMOUNTS LESS THAN CREATION UNITS. Investors must accumulate enough shares in the secondary market to constitute a Creation Unit in order to have such shares redeemed by the Trust. There can be no assurance, however, that there will be sufficient liquidity in the public trading market at any time to permit assembly of a Creation Unit. Investors should expect to incur brokerage and other costs in connection with assembling a sufficient number of shares to constitute a redeemable Creation Unit.

With respect to each Fund, the Custodian, through the NSCC, makes available immediately prior to the opening of business on the NYSE (currently 9:30 a.m. Eastern time) on each Business Day, the list of the names and share quantities of each Fund's portfolio securities that will be applicable (subject to possible amendment or correction) to redemption requests received in proper form (as defined below) on that day ("Fund Securities"). Fund Securities received on redemption may not be identical to Deposit Securities.

Redemption proceeds for a Creation Unit are paid either in-kind or in cash, or a combination thereof, as determined by the Trust. With respect to in-kind redemptions of a Fund, redemption proceeds for a Creation Unit will consist of Fund Securities – as announced by the Custodian on the Business Day of the request for redemption received in proper form plus cash in an amount equal to the difference between the NAV of the shares being redeemed, as next determined after a receipt of a request in proper form, and the value of the Fund Securities (the "Cash Redemption Amount"), less a fixed redemption transaction fee and any applicable additional variable charge, as set forth in the prospectus or this SAI or as provided to Authorized Participant from time to time. In the event that the Fund Securities have a value greater than the NAV of the shares, a compensating cash payment equal to the differential is required to be made by or through an Authorized Participant by the redeeming shareholder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at the Trust's discretion, an Authorized Participant may receive the corresponding cash value of the securities in lieu of the in-kind securities value representing one or more Fund Securities.

**Procedures for Redemption of Creation Units.** After the Trust has deemed an order for redemption received, the Trust will initiate procedures to transfer the requisite Fund Securities and the Cash Redemption Amount to the Authorized Participant by the Settlement Date. With respect to in-kind redemptions of a Fund, the calculation of the value of the Fund Securities and the Cash Redemption Amount to be delivered upon redemption will be made by the Custodian according to the procedures set forth in the prospectus under *"How Your Shares are Value,"* computed on the Business Day on which a redemption order is deemed received by the Trust. Therefore, if a redemption order in proper form is submitted to the Distributor by a DTC Participant by the specified time on the Order Placement Date, and the requisite number of shares of a Fund are delivered to the Custodian prior to 2:00 p.m. or 3:00 p.m. Eastern time (per applicable instructions) on the Settlement Date, then the value of the Fund Securities and the Cash Redemption Amount to be delivered will be determined by the Custodian on such Order Placement Date. If the requisite number of shares of the Fund are not delivered by 2:00 p.m. or 3:00 p.m. Eastern time (per applicable instructions) on the Settlement Date, the fund will not release the underlying securities for delivery unless collateral is posted in such percentage amount of missing shares as set forth in the Participant Agreement (marked-to-market daily).

With respect to in-kind redemptions of a Fund, in connection with taking delivery of shares of Fund Securities upon redemption of Creation Units, an Authorized Participant must maintain appropriate custody arrangements with a qualified broker-dealer, bank or other custody providers in each jurisdiction in which any of the Fund Securities are customarily traded (or such other arrangements as allowed by the Trust or its agents), to which account such Fund Securities will be delivered. Deliveries of redemption proceeds generally will be made within three Business Days of the trade date.

If it is not possible to make other such arrangements, or if it is not possible to effect deliveries of the Fund Securities, the Trust may in its discretion exercise its option to redeem such shares in cash, and the redeeming investor will be required to receive its redemption proceeds in cash. In addition, an investor may request a redemption in cash that a Fund may, in its sole discretion, permit. In either case, the investor will receive a cash payment equal to the NAV of its shares based on the NAV of shares of the Fund next determined after the redemption request is received in proper form (minus a redemption transaction fee and additional charge for requested cash redemptions specified above, to offset the Trust's brokerage and other transaction costs associated with the disposition of Fund Securities). A Fund may also, in its sole discretion, upon request of a shareholder, provide such redeemer a portfolio of securities that differs from the exact composition of the Fund Securities, but does not differ in NAV.

An Authorized Participant submitting a redemption request is deemed to repeat representations set forth in the Authorized Participant Agreement upon each redemption request. The Trust reserves the right to verify these representations at its discretion, but will typically require verification with respect to a redemption request from a Fund in connection with higher levels of redemption activity and/or short interest in a Fund. If the Authorized Participant, upon receipt of a verification request, does not provide sufficient verification of its representations as determined by the Trust, the redemption request will not be considered to have been received in proper form and may be rejected by the Trust.

Redemptions of shares for Fund Securities will be subject to compliance with applicable federal and state securities laws and each Fund (whether or not it otherwise permits cash redemptions) reserves the right to redeem Creation Units for cash to the extent that the Trust could not lawfully deliver specific Fund Securities upon redemptions or could not do so without first registering the Fund Securities under such laws. An Authorized Participant, or an investor for which it is acting subject to a legal restriction with respect to a particular security, included in the Fund Securities applicable to the redemption of Creation

Units may be paid an equivalent amount of cash. The Authorized Participant may request the redeeming investor of the shares to complete an order form or to enter into agreements with respect to such matters as compensating cash payment. Further, an Authorized Participant that is not a "qualified institutional buyer," ("QIB") as such term is defined under Rule 144A of the Securities Act, will not be able to receive Fund Securities that are restricted securities eligible for resale under Rule 144A. An Authorized Participant may be required by the Trust to provide a written confirmation with respect to QIB status in order to receive Fund Securities.

The right of redemption may be suspended or the date of payment postponed with respect to a Fund (1) for any period during which the Exchange is closed (other than customary weekend and holiday closings); (2) for any period during which trading on the Exchange is suspended or restricted; (3) for any period during which an emergency exists as a result of which disposal of the shares of a Fund or determination of the NAV of the shares is not reasonably practicable; or (4) in such other circumstance as is permitted by the SEC.

**Required Early Acceptance of Orders.** Notwithstanding the foregoing, as described in the Participant Agreement and/or applicable order form, certain series of the Trust may require orders to be placed up to one or more Business Days prior to the trade date, as described in the Participant Agreement or the applicable order form, in order to receive the trade date's NAV. Orders to purchase shares of such funds that are submitted on the Business Day immediately preceding a holiday or a day (other than a weekend) that the equity markets in the relevant foreign market are closed may not be accepted. Authorized Participants may be notified that the cut-off time for an order may be earlier on a particular Business Day, as described in the Participant Agreement and the applicable order form.

*Creation and Redemption Transaction Fees.* A transaction fee, as set forth in the table below, is imposed for the transfer and other transaction costs associated with the purchase or redemption of Creation Units, as applicable. Authorized Participants will be required to pay a fixed creation transaction fee and/or a fixed redemption transaction fee, as applicable, on a given day regardless of the number of Creation Units created or redeemed on that day. A Fund may adjust the transactions, including non-standard orders and whole or partial cash purchases or redemptions. With respect to creation orders, Authorized Participants are responsible for the costs of transferring the securities constituting the Deposit Securities to the account of the Trust and with respect to redemption orders, Authorized Participants are responsible for the costs of transferring the securities are responsible for the costs of transferring the securities are responsible for the costs of the Trust and with respect to redemption orders, Authorized Participants are responsible for the costs of the Trust and with respect to redemption orders, Authorized Participants are responsible for the costs of the securities from the Trust to their account or on their order. Investors who use the services of a broker or other such intermediary may also be charged a fee for such services.

|                                       | Transaction Fee (1)(2) |
|---------------------------------------|------------------------|
| Davis Select U.S. Equity ETF          | \$150                  |
| Davis Select Financial ETF            | \$300                  |
| <b>Davis Select International ETF</b> | \$300                  |
| <b>Davis Select Worldwide ETF</b>     | \$300                  |

<sup>(1)</sup> From time to time, a Fund may waive all or a portion of its applicable transaction fee(s). An additional charge of up to three times the standard transaction fee may be charged to the extent a transaction is outside of the clearing process.

(2) In addition to the transaction fees listed above, a Fund may charge an *additional* variable fee for creations and redemptions in cash to offset brokerage and impact expenses associated with the cash transaction. The variable transaction fee will be calculated based on historical transaction cost data and the Adviser's view of current market conditions; however, the actual variable fee charged for a given transaction may be lower or higher than the trading expenses incurred by a Fund with respect to that transaction.

# SECTION IV: GENERAL INFORMATION

This SAI should be read in conjunction with the Funds' prospectus. This SAI supplements the information available in the prospectus.

### **Determining the Price of Shares**

The prospectus describes procedures used to determine the NAV. This SAI supplements that discussion.

*Valuation of Portfolio Securities.* The valuation of each Fund's portfolio securities is described in the Funds' prospectus and annual report.

#### **Dividends and Distributions**

The Funds' prospectus describes the Funds' dividend and distribution policies. This SAI supplements that discussion.

Each Fund intends to pay out dividends, if any, on an annual basis. Each Fund intends to distribute its net realized capital gains, if any, to investors annually. A Fund may occasionally be required to make supplemental distributions. Distributions in cash may be reinvested automatically in additional whole shares, only if the broker through whom you purchased shares makes such option available. Your broker is responsible for distributing the income and capital gain distributions to you. The Trust reserves the right to declare special distributions if, in its reasonable discretion, such action is necessary or advisable to preserve the status of a Fund as a RIC or to avoid imposition of income or excise taxes on undistributed income.

*Capital Stock.* Each Fund issues shares of beneficial interest, with no par value. The Board has the right to establish additional series in the future, to determine the preferences, voting powers, rights and privileges thereof and to modify such preferences, voting powers, rights and privileges without shareholder approval.

The Trust is not required to and does not intend to hold annual meetings of shareholders. The Trust's Declaration of Trust (the "Declaration"), requires a shareholder vote only on those matters where the 1940 Act requires a vote of shareholders and otherwise permits the Trustees to take actions without seeking the consent of shareholders. For example, the Declaration gives the Trustees the authority to approve reorganizations between a Fund and another entity, such as another exchange-traded fund, or the sale of all or substantially all of a Fund's assets, or the termination of the Trust or a Fund without shareholder approval if the 1940 Act would not require such approval. Each share has one vote with respect to matters upon which a shareholder vote is required, consistent with the requirements of the 1940 Act and the rules promulgated thereunder.

Shares of all series of the Trust vote together as a single class except as otherwise required by the 1940 Act, or if the matter being voted on affects only a particular series; and, if a matter affects a particular series differently from other series, the shares of that series will vote separately on such matter.

The Trustees establish the number of Trustees and may fill vacancies on the Board, except when election of Trustees by the shareholders is required under the 1940 Act. Trustees are then elected by a plurality of votes cast by shareholders at a meeting at which a quorum is present. The Declaration also provides that Trustees may be removed, with cause, by a vote of shareholders holding at least two-thirds of the voting power of the Trust, or by a vote of two-thirds of the remaining Trustees. "Cause" requires willful misconduct, dishonesty, fraud or a felony conviction. The provisions of the Declaration relating to the election and removal of Trustees may not be amended without the approval of two-thirds of the Trustees.

Under the Declaration, by becoming a shareholder of a Fund, each shareholder is expressly held to have agreed to be bound by the provisions of the Declaration and the Trust's By-Laws. The Declaration may, except in limited circumstances, be amended by the Trustees in any respect without a shareholder vote. Shareholders may be required to disclose information on direct or indirect ownership of Fund shares in order to comply with various laws applicable to a Fund or as the Trustees may determine, and ownership of Fund shares may be disclosed by a Fund if so required by law or regulation. In addition, pursuant to the Declaration, the Trustees may, in their discretion, require the Trust to redeem shares held by any shareholder for any reason under terms set by the Trustees.

In order to permit legitimate inquiries and claims while avoiding the time, expense, distraction and other harm that can be caused to a Fund or its shareholders as a result of spurious shareholder claims, demands and derivative actions, the Declaration provides a detailed process for the bringing of derivative actions by shareholders, and provides that actions that are derivative in nature may not be brought directly. Consistent with applicable Delaware law, prior to bringing a derivative action, a demand must first be made on the Trustees. The Declaration details various information, certifications, undertakings and acknowledgements that must be included in the demand. If a majority of the Trustees who are considered independent for the purposes of considering the demand determine that maintaining the suit would not be in the best interests of a Fund, the Trustees are required to reject the demand and the complaining shareholder may not proceed with the derivative action unless the shareholder is able to sustain the burden of proof to a court that the decision of the Trustees not to pursue the requested action was not a good faith exercise of their business judgment on behalf of a Fund. In making such a determination, a Trustee is not

considered to have a personal financial interest by virtue of being compensated for their services as a Trustee. If a demand is rejected, the complaining shareholder may be responsible for the Fund's costs and expenses if a court determines that a derivative action was made without reasonable cause or for an improper purpose, if a derivative or direct action is dismissed on the basis of a failure to comply with the procedural provisions relating to shareholder actions as set forth in the Declaration or if a direct action is dismissed by a court for failure to state a claim. Any shareholder bringing an action against a Fund waives the right to trial by jury to the fullest extent permitted by law and any action commenced by a shareholder may be brought only in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware or if any such action may not be brought in that court, then in the Delaware Court of Chancery (the "Chosen Courts"), under the terms of the Declaration. Except as prohibited by law, if a shareholder commences an applicable action in a court other than a Chosen Court, the shareholder may be obligated to reimburse the Fund and any applicable Trustee or officer of the Fund made party to such proceeding for the costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred in connection with any successful motion to dismiss, stay or transfer of the action.

The Declaration specifically provides, however, that no provision of the Declaration is effective to require a waiver of compliance with any provision of, or restrict any shareholder rights expressly granted by, the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the Securities Exchange act of 1934, as amended, or the 1940 Act, or any rule, regulation or order of the SEC thereunder. The provisions of the Declaration are severable, and if the Trustees determine, with the advice of counsel, that any such provision, in whole or in part, conflict with applicable laws and regulations, the conflicting provisions, or part or parts thereof, will be deemed to be not part of the Declaration (provided, that any such determination will not render any of the remaining provisions invalid or improper).

The Declaration contains an express disclaimer of shareholder liability for acts or obligations of the Trust and requires that notice of this disclaimer be given in each agreement, obligation or instrument entered into or executed by the Trust or the Trustees. The Declaration further provides for indemnification out of the assets and property of the Trust for all losses and expenses of any shareholder held personally liable for the obligations of the Trust. Thus, the risk of a shareholder incurring financial loss on account of shareholder liability is limited to circumstances in which both inadequate insurance existed and the Trust or the Fund itself was unable to meet its obligations. The Trust believes the likelihood of the occurrence of these circumstances is remote.

The Declaration further provides that a Trustee acting in their capacity as Trustee is not personally liable to any person other than the Trust or its series, in connection with the affairs of the Trust or for any act, omission or obligation of the Trust. A Trustee is liable only for their own bad faith, willful misfeasance, gross negligence or reckless disregard of their duties involved in the conduct of their office. The Declaration requires the Trust to indemnify any persons who are or who have been Trustees, officers or employees of the Trust for any liability for actions or failure to act except to the extent prohibited by applicable federal law. In making any determination as to whether any person is entitled to the advancement of expenses in connection with a claim for which indemnification is not available. The Declaration provides that any Trustee who serves as Chair of the Board of Trustees, Lead Independent Trustee, or Audit Committee Financial Expert, or in any other similar capacity will not be subject to any greater standard of care or liability because of such position.

Shareholder inquiries may be made by writing to the Trust, c/o the Adviser, Davis Selected Advisers, L.P., at 2949 East Elvira Road, Suite 101, Tucson, Arizona 85756.

# **Federal Income Taxes**

The Funds' prospectus provides a general discussion of federal income taxes. This SAI supplements that discussion.

This discussion is not intended to be a full discussion of all the aspects of the federal income tax law and its effects on the Funds and their shareholders. Shareholders may be subject to state and local taxes on distributions. Each investor should consult their own tax adviser regarding the effect of federal, state and local taxes on any investment in a Fund.

If a Fund qualifies for treatment as a RIC, the Fund will not be subject to federal income tax on income and gains that are distributed in a timely manner to its shareholders in the form of dividends.

In order to qualify as a RIC under the Code, each Fund must distribute annually to its shareholders at least 90% of its net investment income (which, includes dividends, taxable interest and the excess of net short-term capital gains over net long-term capital losses, less operating expenses) and at least 90% of its net tax exempt interest income, for each tax year, if any (the "Distribution Requirement") and also must meet certain additional requirements. Among these requirements are the following: (1) at least 90% of each Fund's gross income each taxable year must be derived from dividends, interest, payments with respect to certain securities loans, and gains from the sale or other disposition of stock, securities, or foreign currencies, or other income (including but not limited to gains from options, futures or forward contracts) derived with respect to its business of investing in such stock, securities, or currencies, and net income derived from an interest in a qualified publicly traded partnership (the "Qualifying Income Test"); and (2) at the close of each quarter of each Fund's taxable year: (a) at least 50% of the value of each Fund's total assets must be represented by cash and cash items, U.S. Government securities, securities of other RICs and other securities, with such other securities limited, in respect to any one issuer, to an amount not greater than 5% of the value of each Fund's total assets and that does not represent more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer,

including the equity securities of a qualified publicly traded partnership, and (b) not more than 25% of the value of each Fund's total assets is invested in the securities (other than U.S. Government securities or the securities of other RICs) of any one issuer or the securities (other than the securities of another RIC) of two or more issuers that a Fund controls and which are engaged in the same or similar trades or businesses or related trades or businesses, or the securities of one or more qualified publicly traded partnerships (the "Asset Test").

If, for any taxable year, a Fund was to fail to qualify as a RIC or was to fail to meet the distribution requirement described above, it would be taxed in the same manner as an ordinary corporation and distributions to its shareholders would not be deductible by the Fund in computing its taxable income. In addition, a Fund's distributions, to the extent derived from the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits, including any distributions of net long-term capital gains, would be taxable to shareholders as ordinary dividend income for federal income tax purposes. However, such dividends would be eligible, subject to any generally applicable limitations, (1) to be treated as qualified dividend income in the case of shareholders taxed as individuals; and (2) for the dividends-received deduction in the case of corporate shareholders. Moreover, the Fund would be required to pay out its earnings and profits accumulated in that year in order to qualify for treatment as a RIC in a subsequent year. Under certain circumstances, a Fund may be able to cure a failure to qualify as a RIC, but in order to do so the Fund may incur significant Fund-level taxes and may be forced to dispose of certain assets. If a Fund failed to qualify as a RIC for a period greater than two taxable years, the Fund would generally be required to recognize any net built-in gains with respect to certain of its assets upon a disposition of such assets within ten years of qualifying as a RIC in a subsequent year.

Each Fund intends to distribute at least annually to its shareholders substantially all of its investment company taxable income (computed without regard to the dividends-paid deduction) and net capital gain (the excess of the Fund's net long-term capital gain over its net short-term capital loss). Investment income that is retained by a Fund will generally be subject to tax at regular corporate rates. If a Fund retains any net capital gain, that gain will be subject to tax at corporate rates, but the Fund may designate the retained amount as undistributed capital gains in a notice to its shareholders who (1) will be required to include in income for federal income tax purposes, as long-term capital gain, their shares of such undistributed amount; (2) will be deemed to have paid their proportionate shares of the tax paid by the Fund on such undistributed amount against their federal income tax liabilities, if any; and (3) will be entitled to claim refunds on a properly filed U.S. tax return to the extent the credit exceeds such liabilities. For federal income tax purposes, the tax basis of shares owned by a shareholder of a Fund will be increased by an amount equal to the difference between the amount of undistributed capital gains included in the shareholder's gross income and the tax deemed paid by the shareholder.

If a Fund fails to distribute in a calendar year an amount at least equal to the sum of 98% of its ordinary income for such year and 98.2% of its capital gain net income for the one-year period ending October 31 of such year, plus any retained amount from the prior year, the Fund will be subject to a non-deductible 4% excise tax on the undistributed amount. For these purposes, the Fund will be treated as having distributed any amount on which it has been subject to corporate income tax for the taxable year ending within the calendar year. Each Fund intends to declare and pay dividends and distributions in the amounts and at the times necessary to avoid the application of the 4% excise tax, although there can be no assurance that it will be able to do so.

A Fund may elect to treat part or all of any "qualified late year loss" as if it had been incurred in the succeeding taxable year in determining the Fund's taxable income, net capital gain, net short-term capital gain, and earnings and profits. A "qualified late year loss" generally includes net capital loss, net long-term capital loss or net short-term capital loss incurred after October 31 of the current taxable year, and certain other late-year losses.

If a Fund has a "net capital loss" (that is, capital losses in excess of capital gains), the excess of the Fund's net short-term capital losses over its net long-term capital gains is treated as a short-term capital loss arising on the first day of the Fund's next taxable year, and the excess (if any) of the Fund's net long-term capital losses over its net short-term capital gains is treated as a long-term capital loss arising on the first day of the Fund's next taxable year.

**Distributions.** Distributions are generally taxable whether shareholders receive them in cash or reinvest them in additional shares. Moreover, distributions on a Fund's shares are generally subject to federal income tax as described herein to the extent they do not exceed the Fund's realized income and gains, even though such distributions may economically represent a return of a particular shareholder's investment. Investors may therefore wish to avoid purchasing shares at a time when a Fund's NAV reflects gains that are either unrealized, or realized but not distributed. Realized income and gains must generally be distributed even when a Fund's NAV also reflects unrealized losses.

Dividends and other distributions by a Fund are generally treated under the Code as received by the shareholders at the time the dividend or distribution is made. However, if any dividend or distribution is declared by a Fund in October, November or December of any calendar year and payable to its shareholders of record on a specified date in such a month but is actually paid during the following January, such dividend or distribution will be deemed to have been received by each shareholder on December 31 of the year in which the dividend was declared.

Distributions by a Fund of investment income are generally taxable as ordinary income. Taxes on distributions of capital gains are determined by how long the Fund owned the assets that generated those gains, rather than how long a shareholder has owned their Fund shares. Sales of assets held by a Fund for more than one year generally result in long-term capital gains and losses, and sales of assets held by a Fund for one year or less generally result in short-term capital gains and losses. Distributions

from a Fund's net capital gain that are properly reported by the Fund as capital gain dividends ("Capital Gain Dividends") will be taxable as long-term capital gains. For individuals, long-term capital gains are subject to tax at reduced maximum tax rates. Distributions of gains from the sale of investments that a Fund owned for one year or less will be taxable as ordinary income.

For non-corporate shareholders, distributions of investment income reported by a Fund as derived from "qualified dividend income" will be taxed at the rates applicable to long-term capital gain, provided holding period and other requirements are met at both the shareholder and Fund level. In order for some portion of the dividends received by a Fund shareholder to be "qualified dividend income," the Fund making the distribution must meet holding period and other requirements with respect to some portion of the dividend-paying stocks in its portfolio and the shareholder must meet holding period and other requirements with respect to the Fund's shares. A dividend will not be treated as qualified dividend income (at either the Fund or shareholder level) (1) if the dividend is received with respect to any share of stock held for fewer than 61 days during the 121-day period beginning on the date that is 60 days before the date on which such share becomes ex-dividend with respect to such dividend (or, in the case of certain preferred stock, 91 days during the 181-day period beginning 90 days before the ex-dividend date); (2) to the extent that the recipient is under an obligation (whether pursuant to a short sale or otherwise) to make related payments with respect to positions in substantially similar or related property; (3) if the recipient elects to have the dividend income treated as investment income for purposes of the limitation on deductibility of investment interest; or (4) if the dividend is received from a foreign corporation that is (a) not eligible for the benefits of a comprehensive income tax treaty with the United States (with the exception of dividends paid on stock of such a foreign corporation that is readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States), or (b) treated as a passive foreign investment company.

In general, distributions of investment income reported by a Fund as derived from qualified dividend income will be treated as qualified dividend income by a shareholder taxed as an individual, provided the shareholder meets the holding period and other requirements described above with respect to the Fund's shares. To the extent that a Fund makes a distribution of income received by the Fund in lieu of dividends (a "substitute payment") with respect to securities on loan pursuant to a securities lending transaction, such income will not constitute qualified dividend income to individual shareholders and will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction for corporate shareholders.

Dividends and distributions from a Fund and capital gain on the sale of Fund shares are generally taken into account in determining a shareholder's "net investment income" for purposes of the Medicare contribution tax applicable to certain individuals, estates and trusts.

In the case of corporate shareholders, Fund distributions (other than capital gain distributions) generally qualify for the dividends-received deduction to the extent such distributions are so reported and do not exceed the gross amount of qualifying dividends received by such Fund for the year. Generally, and subject to certain limitations (including certain holding period limitations), a dividend will be treated as a qualifying dividend if it has been received from a domestic corporation. All such qualifying dividends (including the deducted portion) must be included in your alternative minimum taxable income calculation.

If a Fund makes distributions in excess of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits in any taxable year, the excess distribution to each shareholder will be treated as a return of capital to the extent of the shareholder's tax basis in its shares, and will reduce the shareholder's tax basis in its shares. After the shareholder's basis has been reduced to zero, any such distributions will result in a capital gain, assuming the shareholder holds their shares as capital assets. A reduction in a shareholder's tax basis in its shares will reduce any loss or increase any gain on a subsequent taxable disposition by the shareholder of its shares.

*Sale or Exchange of Shares.* A sale or exchange of shares in a Fund may give rise to a gain or loss. In general, any gain or loss realized upon a taxable disposition of shares will be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if the shares have been held for more than 12 months. Otherwise, the gain or loss on the taxable disposition of shares will be treated as short-term capital gain or loss. However, any loss realized upon a taxable disposition of shares held for six months or less will be treated as long-term, rather than short-term, to the extent of any long-term capital gain distributions received (or deemed received) by the shareholder with respect to the shares. All or a portion of any loss realized upon a taxable disposition of shares will be disallowed if substantially identical shares of the Fund are purchased within 30 days before or after the disposition. In such a case, the basis of the newly purchased shares will be adjusted to reflect the disallowed loss.

**Backup Withholding.** A Fund (or financial intermediaries, such as brokers, through which a shareholder holds Fund shares) generally is required to withhold and to remit to the U.S. Treasury a percentage of the taxable distributions and sale or redemption proceeds paid to any shareholder who fails to properly furnish a correct taxpayer identification number, who has under-reported dividend or interest income, who has failed to certify that they are a U.S. person (including a resident alien) or who fails to certify that they are not subject to such withholding. The backup withholding tax rate is 28%. Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld may be credited against the shareholder's U.S. federal income tax liability, provided the appropriate information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS").

*Federal Tax Treatment of Certain Fund Investments.* Transactions of a Fund in options, futures contracts, hedging transactions, forward contracts, swap agreements, straddles and foreign currencies may be subject to various special and complex tax rules, including mark-to-market, constructive sale, straddle, wash sale and short sale rules. These rules could affect

a Fund's ability to qualify as a RIC, affect whether gains and losses recognized by a Fund are treated as ordinary income or capital gain, accelerate the recognition of income to a Fund, and/or defer a Fund's ability to recognize losses. These rules may in turn affect the amount, timing or character of the income distributed to shareholders by a Fund.

Each Fund is required, for federal income tax purposes, to mark-to-market and recognize as income for each taxable year its net unrealized gains and losses as of the end of such year on certain regulated futures contracts, foreign currency contracts and options that qualify as Section 1256 contracts in addition to the gains and losses actually realized with respect to such contracts during the year. Gain or loss from Section 1256 contracts that are required to be marked-to-market annually will generally be 60% long-term and 40% short-term capital gain or loss. Application of this rule may alter the timing and character of distributions to shareholders.

With respect to investments in zero coupon securities that are sold at original issue discount and thus do not make periodic cash interest payments, a Fund will be required to include as part of its current income the imputed interest on such obligations even though the Fund has not received any interest payments on such obligations during that period. Because a Fund intends to distribute substantially all of its net investment income to its shareholders, the Fund may have to sell Fund securities to distribute such imputed income that may occur at a time when the Adviser would not have chosen to sell such securities and that may result in taxable gain or loss.

Any market discount recognized on a bond is taxable as ordinary income. A market discount bond is a bond acquired in the secondary market at a price below redemption value or adjusted issue price if issued with original issue discount. Absent an election by a Fund to include the market discount in income as it accrues, gain on the Fund's disposition of such an obligation will be treated as ordinary income rather than capital gain to the extent of the accrued market discount.

A Fund may invest in inflation-linked debt securities. Any increase in the principal amount of an inflation-linked debt security will be original interest discount, which is taxable as ordinary income and is required to be distributed, even though the Fund will not receive the principal, including any increase thereto, until maturity. As noted above, if a Fund invests in such securities it may be required to liquidate other investments, including at times when it is not advantageous to do so, in order to satisfy its distribution requirements and to eliminate any possible taxation at the Fund level.

*Foreign Investments.* Income received by a Fund from sources within foreign countries (including, for example, dividends or interest on stock or securities of non-U.S. issuers) may be subject to withholding and other taxes imposed by such countries. Tax treaties between such countries and the U.S. may reduce or eliminate such taxes.

If more than 50% of the value of a Fund's total assets at the close of their taxable year consists of stocks or securities of foreign corporations, the Fund will be eligible to and intends to file an election with the IRS that may enable shareholders, in effect, to receive either the benefit of a foreign tax credit, or a deduction from such taxes, with respect to any foreign and U.S. possessions income taxes paid by the Fund, subject to certain limitations. Pursuant to the election, such Fund will treat those taxes as dividends paid to its shareholders. Each such shareholder will be required to include a proportionate share of those taxes in gross income as income received from a foreign source and must treat the amount so included as if the shareholder had paid the foreign tax directly. The shareholder may then either deduct the taxes deemed paid by him or her in computing their taxable income or, alternatively, use the foregoing information in calculating any foreign tax credit they may be entitled to use against the shareholders' federal income tax. If a Fund makes the election, such Fund (or its administrative agent) will report annually to their shareholders the respective amounts per share of the Fund's income from sources within, and taxes paid to, foreign countries and U.S. possessions.

**Tax-Exempt Shareholders.** Under current law, income of a RIC that would be treated as unrelated business taxable income ("UBTI") if earned directly by a tax-exempt entity generally will not be attributed as UBTI to a tax-exempt entity that is a shareholder in the RIC. Notwithstanding this "blocking" effect, a tax-exempt shareholder could realize UBTI by virtue of its investment in a Fund if (1) shares in the Fund constitute debt-financed property in the hands of the tax-exempt shareholder within the meaning of Code Section 514(b); (2) if the Fund invests in REITs that hold residual interests in REMICs; (3) the Fund invests in a REIT that is a taxable mortgage pool ("TMP") or in a REIT that has a subsidiary that is a TMP; or (4) if the Fund holds residual interests in REMICs.

*Non-U.S. Investors.* In general, dividends, other than Capital Gain Dividends paid by a Fund to a shareholder that is not a "U.S. person" within the meaning of the Code are subject to withholding of U.S. federal income tax at a rate of 30% (or lower applicable treaty rate) on distributions derived from taxable ordinary income. A Fund may, under certain circumstances, report all or a portion of a dividend as an "interest-related dividend" or a "short-term capital gain dividend," which would generally be exempt from this 30% U.S. withholding tax, provided certain other requirements are met. Short-term capital gain dividends received by a nonresident alien individual who is present in the U.S. for a period or periods aggregating 183 days or more during the taxable year are not exempt from this 30% withholding tax.

A beneficial holder of shares who is a non-U.S. person is not, in general, subject to U.S. federal income tax on gains (and is not allowed a U.S. income tax deduction for losses) realized on a sale of shares of a Fund or on Capital Gain Dividends, unless (1) such gain or dividend is effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business carried on by such holder within the United States; or (2) in the case of an individual holder, the holder is present in the United States for a period or periods

aggregating 183 days or more during the year of the sale or the receipt of the Capital Gain Dividend and certain other conditions are met.

Ordinary dividends, redemption payments and certain Capital Gain Dividends paid after June 30, 2014 to a non-U.S. shareholder that fails to meet certain requirements or make certain required certifications are generally subject to withholding tax at a 30% rate. Under current IRS guidance, withholding on such payments will begin at different times depending on the type of payee and when the shareholder's account is or was opened. In general, withholding with respect to ordinary dividends began on July 1, 2014, although in many cases withholding on ordinary dividends will begin on a later date. Withholding on redemption payments, proceeds of sales in respect of Fund shares and certain Capital Gain Dividends is currently scheduled to begin on January 1, 2019. A non-U.S. shareholder may be exempt from the withholding described in this paragraph under an intergovernmental agreement between the U.S. and a foreign government, provided that the shareholder and the applicable foreign government comply with the terms of such agreement. In order for a non-U.S. investor to qualify for an exemption from backup withholding, described above, the non-U.S. investor must comply with special certification and filing requirements. Non-U.S. investors in a Fund should consult their tax advisors in this regard.

A beneficial holder of shares who is a non-U.S. person may be subject to state and local tax and to the U.S. federal estate tax, in addition to the federal income tax consequences referred to above. If a shareholder is eligible for the benefits of a tax treaty, any income or gain effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business will generally be subject to U.S. federal income tax on a net basis, only if it is also attributable to a permanent establishment maintained by the shareholder in the United States.

*Creation and Redemption of Creation Units.* An Authorized Participant having the U.S. dollar as its functional currency for U.S. federal income tax purposes that exchanges securities for Creation Units generally will recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference between (1) the sum of the value of the Creation Units at the time of the exchange and any cash received by the Authorized Participant in the exchange; and (2) the sum of the exchanger's aggregate basis in the securities surrendered and any cash paid for such Creation Units. All or a portion of any gain or loss recognized by an Authorized Participant exchanging a currency other than its functional currency for Creation Units may be treated as ordinary income or loss. A person who redeems Creation Units will generally recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference between the exchanger's basis in the Creation Units and the sum of the aggregate U.S. dollar value of any securities received plus the amount of any cash received for such Creation Units. The IRS, however, may assert that a loss that is realized upon an exchange of securities for Creation Units by an Authorized Participant who does not mark-to-market its holdings may not be currently deducted under the rules governing "wash sales," or on the basis that there has been no significant change in economic position. All or some portion of any capital gain or loss realized upon the creation Units in exchange for securities will generally be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if securities exchanged for such Creation Units have been held for more than one year.

Any capital gain or loss realized upon the redemption of Creation Units will generally be treated as long-term capital gain or loss if the Creation Units have been held for more than one year. Otherwise, such capital gains or losses will be treated as short-term capital gains or losses.

Persons exchanging securities for Creation Units should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax treatment of any creation or redemption transaction and whether the wash sales rule applies and when a loss might be deductible.

**Section 351.** The Trust on behalf of each Fund has the right to reject an order for a purchase of shares of a Fund if the purchaser (or any group of purchasers) would, upon obtaining the shares so ordered, own 80% or more of the outstanding shares of the Fund and if, pursuant to Section 351 of the Code, the Fund would have a basis in the securities different from the value of such securities on the date of deposit. The Trust also has the right to require information necessary to determine beneficial share ownership for purposes of the 80% determination.

*Certain Reporting Regulations.* Under U.S. Treasury regulations, generally, if a shareholder recognizes a loss of \$2 million or more for an individual shareholder or \$10 million or more for a corporate shareholder (or certain greater amounts over a combination of years), the shareholder must file with the IRS a disclosure statement on IRS Form 8886. Direct shareholders of portfolio securities are in many cases excepted from this reporting requirement, but under current guidance, shareholders of a RIC are not excepted. Significant penalties may be imposed for the failure to comply with the reporting regulations. The fact that a loss is reportable under these regulations does not affect the legal determination of whether the taxpayer's treatment of the loss is proper. Shareholders should consult their tax advisors to determine the applicability of these regulations in light of their individual circumstances.

*Cost Basis Reporting.* The cost basis of shares acquired by purchase will generally be based on the amount paid for the shares and then may be subsequently adjusted for other applicable transactions as required by the Code. The difference between the selling price and the cost basis of shares generally determines the amount of the capital gain or loss realized on the sale or exchange of shares. Contact the broker through whom you purchased your shares to obtain information with respect to the available cost basis reporting methods and elections for your account.

#### **General Considerations**

The federal income tax discussion set forth above is for general information only. Prospective investors should consult their tax advisors regarding the specific federal income tax consequences of purchasing, holding and disposing of shares of a Fund, as well as the effect of state, local and foreign tax law and any proposed tax law changes.

# Procedures and Shareholder Rights are Described by Current Prospectus and Other Disclosure Documents

Among other disclosures, the Funds' most current prospectus, SAI, annual and semi-annual reports, and other documents describe (1) the procedures that the Funds follow when interacting with shareholders; and (2) shareholders' rights. The Funds' procedures and shareholders' rights may change from time to time to reflect changing laws, rules and operations. The Funds' prospectus and other disclosure documents will be amended from time to time to reflect these changes.

# APPENDIX A: QUALITY RATINGS OF DEBT SECURITIES

# **Moody's Credit Ratings**

- Aaa Obligations rated Aaa are judged to be of the highest quality, with minimal risk.
- Aa Obligations rated Aa are judged to be of high quality and are subject to very low credit risk.
- A Obligations rated A are considered upper medium-grade-obligations and are subject to low credit risk.
- **Baa** Obligations rated Baa are subject to moderate credit risk. They are considered medium-grade and as such may possess speculative characteristics.
- Ba Obligations rated Ba are judged to have speculative elements and are subject to substantial credit risk.
- **B** Obligations rated B are considered speculative and are subject to high credit risk.
- Caa Obligations rated Caa are judged to be of poor standing and are subject to very high credit risk.
- Ca Obligations rated Ca are highly speculative and are likely in, or very near, default, with some prospect of recovery in principal and interest.
- C Obligations rated C are the lowest-rated class of bonds and are typically in default, with little prospect for recovery of principal and interest.

# S&P Global's Credit Ratings

- AAA Extremely strong capacity to meet financial commitments. Highest rating.
- AA Very strong capacity to meet financial commitments.
- A Strong capacity to meet financial commitments, but somewhat susceptible to adverse economic conditions and changes in circumstances.
- BBB Adequate capacity to meet financial commitments, but more subject to adverse economic conditions.
- BBB- Considered lowest investment-grade by market participants.
- BB+ Considered highest speculative-grade by market participants.
- **BB** Less vulnerable in near-term but faces major ongoing uncertainties to adverse business, financial and economic conditions.
- **B** More vulnerable to adverse business, financial and economic conditions but currently has the capacity to meet financial commitments.
- CCC Currently vulnerable and dependent on favorable business, financial and economic conditions to meet financial commitments.
- CC Highly vulnerable; default has not yet occurred, but is expected to be a virtual certainty.
- C Currently highly vulnerable to non-payment, and ultimate recovery is expected to be lower than that of higher rated obligations.
- **D** Payment default on a financial commitment or breach or an imputed promise; also used when a bankruptcy petition has been filed or similar action taken.

# APPENDIX B: SUMMARY OF THE ADVISER'S PROXY VOTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Davis Selected Advisers, L.P. (the "Adviser") votes on behalf of its clients in matters of corporate governance through the proxy voting process. The Adviser takes its ownership responsibilities very seriously and believes the right to vote proxies for its clients' holdings is a significant asset of the clients. The Adviser exercises its voting responsibilities as a fiduciary, solely with the goal of maximizing the value of its clients' investments.

The Adviser votes proxies with a focus on the investment implications of each issue. For each proxy vote, the Adviser takes into consideration its duty to clients and all other relevant facts known to the Adviser at the time of the vote. Therefore, while these guidelines provide a framework for voting, votes are ultimately cast on a case-by-case basis.

The Adviser has adopted written Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures and established a Proxy Oversight Group to oversee voting policies and deal with potential conflicts of interest. In evaluating issues, the Proxy Oversight Group may consider information from many sources, including the Portfolio Managers for each client account, management of a company presenting a proposal, shareholder groups, and independent proxy research services. While the Proxy Oversight Group may consider information from many sources, there is no requirement that it consider each source and the Proxy Oversight Group shall have the discretion in its professional judgement to determine each matter to be voted on. The Adviser may utilize research provided by an independent third-party proxy advisory firm. As a policy, the Adviser does not follow the voting recommendations provided by these firms.

Clients may obtain a copy of the Adviser's Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures, and/or a copy of how their own proxies were voted, by writing to:

Davis Selected Advisers, L.P. Attn: Chief Compliance Officer 2949 East Elvira Road, Suite 101 Tucson, Arizona, 85756

# **Guiding Principles**

*Creating Value for Existing Shareholders.* The most important factors that the Adviser will consider in evaluating proxy issues are: (1) the company's or management's long-term track record of creating value for shareholders (e.g., in general, the Adviser will consider the recommendations of a management with a good record of creating value for shareholders as more credible than the recommendations of a management with a poor record); (2) whether, in the Adviser's estimation, the current proposal being considered will significantly enhance or detract from long-term value for existing shareholders; and (3) whether a poor record of long term performance resulted from poor management or from factors outside of management's control.

Other factors which the Adviser will consider may include:

- <u>Shareholder oriented management</u>. One of the factors that the Adviser considers in selecting stocks for investment is the presence of shareholder-oriented management. In general, such managements will have a large ownership stake in the company. They will also have a record of taking actions and supporting policies designed to increase the value of the company's shares and thereby enhance shareholder wealth. The Adviser's research analysts are active in meeting with top management of portfolio companies and in discussing their views on policies or actions which could enhance shareholder value. Whether management shows evidence of responding to reasonable shareholder suggestions, and otherwise improving general corporate governance, is a factor which may be taken into consideration in proxy voting.
- Allow responsible management teams to run the business. Because the Adviser tries, generally, to invest with "owner oriented" managements (see above), it will vote with the recommendation of management on most routine matters, unless circumstances such as long standing poor performance or a change from its initial assessment indicates otherwise. Examples include the election of directors and ratification of auditors. The Adviser supports policies, plans, and structures that give management teams the appropriate latitude to run the business in the way that is most likely to maximize value for owners. Conversely, the Adviser opposes proposals that limit management's ability to do this. The Adviser will generally vote with management on shareholder social and environmental proposals on the basis that their impact on share value is difficult to judge and is therefore best done by management.
- <u>Preserve and expand the power of shareholders in areas of corporate governance</u>. Equity shareholders are owners of the business, and company boards and management teams are ultimately accountable to them. The Adviser will support policies, plans, and structures that promote accountability of the board and management to owners, and align the interests of the board and management with owners. Examples include: annual election of all board members and incentive plans that are contingent on delivering value to shareholders. The Adviser will generally oppose proposals that reduce accountability or

misalign interests, including but not limited to classified boards, poison pills, excessive option plans, and repricing of options.

Support compensation policies that reward management teams appropriately for performance. The Adviser believes that well thought out incentives are critical to driving long-term shareholder value creation. Management incentives ought to be aligned with the goals of long-term owners. In the Adviser's view, the basic problem of skyrocketing executive compensation is not high pay for high performance, but high pay for mediocrity or worse. In situations where the Adviser feels that the compensation practices at companies the Funds own are not acceptable, the Adviser will exercise its discretion to vote against compensation committee members and specific compensation proposals.

The Adviser exercises its professional judgment in applying these principles to specific proxy votes. The Adviser's Proxy Policies and Procedures provide additional explanation of the analysis which the Adviser may conduct when applying these guiding principles to specific proxy votes.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

A potential conflict of interest arises when the Adviser has business interests that may not be consistent with the best interests of its client. The Adviser's Proxy Oversight Group is charged with resolving material potential conflicts of interest which it becomes aware of. It is charged with resolving conflicts in a manner that is consistent with the best interests of clients. There are many acceptable methods of resolving potential conflicts, and the Proxy Oversight Group exercises its judgment and discretion to determine an appropriate means of resolving a potential conflict in any given situation:

- Votes consistent with the "General Proxy Voting Policies," are presumed to be consistent with the best interests of clients;
- The Adviser may disclose the conflict to the client and obtain the client's consent prior to voting the proxy;
- The Adviser may obtain guidance from an independent third-party;
- The potential conflict may be immaterial; or
- Other reasonable means of resolving potential conflicts of interest which effectively insulate the decision on how to vote client proxies from the conflict.